Diffusive random process approximation in certain nonstationary statistical problems of physics

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

Institute of Atmospheric Physics, USSR Academy of Sciences Usp. Fiz. Nauk 110, 499-536 (August 1973)

The review considers, on the basis of a unified approach, the problem of Brownian motion in nonlinear dynamic systems, including a linear oscillator acted upon by random forces, parametric resonance in an oscillating system with random parameters, turbulent diffusion of particles in a random-velocity field, and diffusion of rays in a medium with random inhomogeneities of the refractive index. The same method is used to consider also more complicated problems such as equilibrium hydrodynamic fluctuations in an ideal gas, description of hydrodynamic turbulence by the method of random forces, and propagation of light in a medium with random inhomogeneities. The method used to treat these problems consists of constructing equations for the probability density of the system or for its statistical moments, using as the small parameter the ratio of the characteristic time of the random actions to the time constant of the system (in many problems, the role of the time is played by one of the real correlation function of the action by a δ function; this yields equations for the characteristics in closed form. The method makes it possible to determine also higher approximations in terms of the aforementioned first-order small parameter.

CONTENTS

| 1. | Introduction | 494 |
|-------------|---|-----|
| 2. | Diffusive Random Process Approximation for Nonlinear Dynamic Systems of | |
| | General Form | 495 |
| 3. | Brownian Motion of Dynamic Systems | 497 |
| 4. | Nonlinear Oscillator Under the Action of Random Forces | 500 |
| 5. | Parametric Resonance in an Oscillating System with Random Parameters | 501 |
| 6. | Particle Diffusion in a Random-Velocity Field | 502 |
| 7. | Diffusion of Rays in Randomly-Inhomogeneous Media | 503 |
| 8. | Equilibrium Hydrodynamic Fluctuations in an Ideal Gas | 505 |
| 9. | Random Forces in Hydrodynamic Theory of Turbulence | 506 |
| 10. | Propagation of Light in a Randomly-Inhomogeneous Medium | 507 |
| l 1. | Conclusion | 510 |
| Re | ferences | 510 |
| | | |

1. INTRODUCTION

Statistical problems occupy at present a prominent position in various branches of physics. Even if we disregard problems that belong traditionally to statistical physics, there are many questions in which we encounter the need of taking fluctuation effects into account. Although the causes of the fluctuations are entirely different in different problems (these may be thermal noise, instabilities, turbulence, etc.), the methods used for their theoretical analysis are frequently very similar.

A powerful tool that makes it possible at present to solve rather complicated statistical problems is the theory of processes of diffusive type, which was developed on the basis of the theory of Brownian motion, and the theory of Markov random processes. The purely mathematical aspects of this theory is treated in an extensive literature (see, e.g., [e-14]) and these questions will not be touched upon in this review.

The purpose of the present article is to illustrate how different physical problems can be solved on the basis of a generalized Brownian-motion theory. We reveal here interesting analogies between quite different physical problems. The examples considered below are borrowed mainly from statistical radiophysics and hydrodynamics, this being the branches in which the authors work. Analogous problems and methods of their solutions

arise, however, also in plasma physics, in solid-state theory, in magnetohydrodynamics, etc.

The method used below is a theory based on the expansion of the solutions in a small parameter, namely the ratio of the correlation time of random actions to the observation time and other characteristic temporal scales of the problem (in a number of cases these are not temporal but spatial scales). In the theory of Brownian motion this approximation corresponds to neglect of the time between random collisions in comparison with all other temporal scales.

As applied to the problems of dynamic systems whose motion satisfies ordinary differential stochastic equations, the employed method leads to the Markov randomprocess approximation. In more complicated problems, which are described by partial differential equations (among the examples considered below, these include problems of hydrodynamic fluctuations in an ideal gas, the functional description of hydrodynamic turbulence, and the propagation of light in a medium with random inhomogeneities), this method leads to a generalized equation of the Einstein-Fokker type, in which connection it can be called the diffusive random-process approximation.

In many recent papers in which the Einstein-Fokker equation (EFE) is used, this equation is formulated on the basis of intuitive considerations, and the dynamic

Copyright © 1974 American Institute of Physics

equations are used only to calculate the coefficients that enter in the EFE. This approach is somewhat inconsistent. Indeed, the statistical problem is fully defined by the dynamic equations and by the assumptions made in these equations concerning the random actions. The EFE, as an approximate solution of the problem, should in this case be a logical consequence of the dynamic equations and of certain assumptions concerning the character of the random actions. It is clear that the solution of the problem reduces to the EFE in by far not all cases. An example where the EFE was obtained under very general assumptions from dynamic equations may be Bogolyubov's work^[15].

The method used below for obtaining the EFE was proposed by Novikov^[16] in turbulence theory. This method makes it possible to obtain the EFE by starting directly from the dynamic equation of the problem, and also to investigate the corrections necessitated by the finite correlation time of the random actions. At the same time, the limitations under which the EFE is valid are determined. We note that in some problems this leads to limitations of the "intensity" of the random actions. In many cases it is possible to construct also more accurate equations that take into account the finite correlation time of the random actions. An example illustrating this more accurate method can be found in the problem of propagation of light in an active medium.

2. DIFFUSIVE RANDOM PROCESS APPROXIMATION FOR NONLINEAR DYNAMIC SYSTEMS OF GENERAL FORM

a) The Einstein-Fokker equation for a system of differential equations. Let a certain quantity ξ (t) = { ξ_1 (t), ..., ξ_n (t)} satisfy the system of dynamic equations

$$d\xi_i(t)/dt = v_i(\xi, t) + f_i(\xi, t), \quad \xi(0) = \xi_0, \quad (2.1)$$

where $v_i(\xi, t)$ are determined functions, and $f_i(\mathbf{x}, t)$ are random functions of n + 1 variables, having the following properties: (a) $f_i(\mathbf{x}, t)$ is a random Gaussian field in an (n + 1)-dimensional space; (b) $\langle f_i(\mathbf{x}, t) \rangle = 0$. We assume for completeness that t is the temporal coordinate and \mathbf{x} stands for the spatial coordinates.

The statistical characteristics of the field $f_i(\mathbf{x}, t)$ are completely described by specifying its correlation tensor

$$B_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, t; \mathbf{x}', t') = \langle f_i(\mathbf{x}, t) f_j(\mathbf{x}', t') \rangle,$$

where the angle brackets denote averaging over the ensemble of the realizations of f.

Since the system (2.1) is of first order in t, the initial conditions for which are stipulated at t = 0, the functions $\xi_i(t)$ will depend functionally only on values of $f_i(\mathbf{x}, t')$ which come earlier in terms of t in the interval $0 \le t' \le t$. It follows therefore that $\xi_i(t)$ does not vary when the functions $f_i(\mathbf{x}, t')$ are varied outside this interval, i.e., in the sections t' < 0 and t' > t. Consequently, the variational derivatives $\delta \xi_i / \delta f_j$ satisfies the condition (at (fixed $\xi_i(0)$)

$$\delta \xi_i(t) / \delta f_j(\mathbf{x}, t') = 0, \quad \text{if} \quad t' < 0, \quad t' > t, \quad (2.2)$$

which we shall call the causality condition.

In what follows we shall need the value $\delta \xi_i(t)/\delta f_j(\mathbf{x}, t')$ at t' = t. This quantity can be obtained in the following manner. Integrating (2.1) with respect to t, we obtain

$$\xi_{i}(t) = \xi_{i}(0) + \int_{0}^{1} d\tau \left[v_{t}(\xi(\tau), \tau) + f_{i}(\xi(\tau), \tau) \right]$$

$$= \xi_i(0) + \int_0^t d\tau \int d\eta \left[v_i(\eta, \tau) + f_i(\eta, \tau) \right] \delta(\eta - \xi(\tau)).$$

We apply to this formula the operator $\delta/\delta f_j(\mathbf{x}, t')$ and recognize that, in accordance with the definition of the variational derivative we have $\delta f_i(\eta, \tau)/\delta f_j(\mathbf{x}, t')$ = $\delta_{ij}\delta(\eta - \mathbf{x})\delta(\tau - t')$. Since $\xi_i(0)$ does not depend on \mathbf{f} , we obtain by differentiating the product under the integral sign

$$\frac{\delta\xi_{i}(t)}{\delta f_{f}(\mathbf{x}, t')} = \int_{0}^{t} d\tau \int d\eta \left\{ \delta_{ij}\delta(\eta - \mathbf{x}) \delta(\tau - t') \delta(\eta - \xi(\tau)) + \left[v_{i}(\eta, \tau) + f_{i}(\eta, \tau) \right] \frac{\delta}{\delta f_{f}(\mathbf{x}, t')} \delta(\eta - \xi(\tau)) \right\} = \delta_{ij}\delta(\mathbf{x} - \xi(t')) + \int_{t'}^{t} d\tau \int d\eta \left[v_{i}(\eta, \tau) + f_{i}(\eta, \tau) \right] \frac{\delta}{\delta f_{f}(\mathbf{x}, t')} \delta(\eta - \xi(\tau))$$

The lower limit of integration in the second term is replaced by t', since, according to (2.2), the variational derivative under the integral sign is equal to zero if $t' > \tau$. Putting now t' = t, we cause the second term, which can be shown not to contain singularities at $\tau = t$, to vanish, as a result of which we obtain the formula

$$\xi_i(t)/\delta f_j(\mathbf{x}, t) = \delta_{ij}\delta(\mathbf{x} - \xi(t)).$$
(2.3)

As indicated above, the functions $\xi_i(t)$ depend functionally only on the preceding values $f_j(\mathbf{x}, t')$. A statistical connection may exist, however, between $\xi_i(t)$ and succeeding values $f_j(\mathbf{x}, t'')$, since the values of $f_j(\mathbf{x}, t'')$ at t'' > t are correlated with the values of $f_j(\mathbf{x}, t'')$ at t'' < t. It is clear that the correlation of the functions $\xi_i(t)$ with the subsequent values of $f_j(\mathbf{x}, t'')$ is noticeable only at $t'' - t \leq \tau_0$, where τ_0 is the correlation radius of the field $f_j(\mathbf{x}, t)$ with respect to the variable t. On the other hand, if the characteristic correlation radius $\xi_i(t)$ is of the order of $T \gg \tau_0$ (this holds true for a rather large class of real physical processes), then there exists in the considered problem a small parameter τ_0/T , which can be used to construct an approximate solution.

In first-order approximation in this small parameter, we can put $\tau_0 = 0$. In this case the values of $\xi_i(t')$ at t' < t will be independent not only functionally but also statistically of the values of $f_i(\mathbf{x}, t'')$ at t'' > t. This circumstance is equivalent to replacing the correlation function B_{ij} by the effective correlation

$$B_{ij}^{\text{eff}}(\mathbf{x}, t; \mathbf{x}', t') = 2\delta(t - t') F_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}', t), \qquad (2.4)$$

with the quantity F_{ij} determined from the condition of equality of the integrals of B_{ij} and B_{ij}^{eff} with respect to t':

$$F_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \, \mathbf{x}', \, t) = (1/2) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt' B_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \, t; \, \mathbf{x}', \, t').$$
 (2.5)

We introduce the probability density for the solution ξ (t) of the system (2.1)

$$P_t(\mathbf{x}) = \langle \delta(\mathbf{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}(t)) \rangle, \qquad (2.6)$$

where $\xi(t)$ is the solution of the system (2.1) corresponding to a definite realization of f(x, t), and the averaging is carried out over the set of all the realizations.

Differentiating (2.6) with respect to t, we obtain, taking (2.1) into account, the equation

$$\frac{\partial P_t(\mathbf{x})}{\partial t} = \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \,\delta\left(\mathbf{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}\left(t\right)\right) \right\rangle = -\left\langle \frac{d\boldsymbol{\xi}_k}{dt} \,\frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_k} \,\delta\left(\mathbf{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}\left(t\right)\right) \right\rangle \\ = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_k} \,\left\langle \delta\left(\mathbf{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}\left(t\right)\right) \left[\boldsymbol{v}_k\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}\left(t\right), \, t\right) + f_k\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}\left(t\right), \, t\right)\right] \right\rangle.$$
(2.7)

Using the identity $\delta(\mathbf{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}(t)) \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}}(\boldsymbol{\xi}(t), t)$

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

495 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

 $\equiv \delta(\mathbf{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}(t)) \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{x}, t)$, taking the non-random factor $\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{x}, t)$ outside the averaging symbol, and again using (2.6), we obtain

$$\partial P_t(\mathbf{x})/\partial t = -(\partial/\partial x_k) \left[v_k(\mathbf{x}, t) P_t(\mathbf{x}) + \langle f_k(\mathbf{x}, t) \delta(\mathbf{x} - \xi(t)) \rangle \right].$$
(2.8)

To calculate the correlation in the right-hand side of (2.8), we use a formula obtained by $Furutsu^{[17]}$ and Novikov^[16] (see $also^{[18]}$)

$$\langle f(\mathbf{r}) R[f] \rangle = \int d\mathbf{r}' \langle f(\mathbf{r}) f(\mathbf{r}') \rangle \langle \delta R[f] / \delta f(\mathbf{r}') \rangle,$$
 (2.9)

which makes it possible to calculate the correlation of a Gaussian random field $f(\mathbf{r}) (\langle f(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = 0)$ with a functional R[f] of the field (\mathbf{r} stands for all the arguments of the function f, including the indices over which it is necessary to sum). Formula (2.9) can be proved, for example, by expanding R[f] in a functional Taylor series, and represents a generalization of the well known formula for the correlation of a Gaussian random quantity with a function of this quantity $\langle zf(z) \rangle = \langle z^2 \rangle \langle f'(z) \rangle (\langle z \rangle = 0)$ to include the case of continuous fields.

If we use expression (2.4) for the correlation function of the field $f_i(\mathbf{x}, t)$, then we obtain terms connected with the values $\delta \xi_i(t)/\delta f_j(\mathbf{x}, t')$ at coinciding arguments t' = t, which, in accordance with (2.3), are expressed in terms of the functions $\xi_i(t)$ themselves. We then arrive at the EFE

$$\frac{\frac{\partial P_t(\mathbf{x})}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} \{ [v_k(\mathbf{x}, t) + A_k(\mathbf{x}, t)] P_t(\mathbf{x}) \} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_k \partial x_l} [F_{hl}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, t) P_t(\mathbf{x})] = 0,$$
(2.10)

where

$$A_{k}(\mathbf{x}, t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{l}} F_{kl}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}', t) \Big|_{\mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}}.$$

Equation (2.10) should be solved with the initial condition

$$P_0(\mathbf{x}) = \delta(\mathbf{x} - \xi_0)$$
 (2.11)

or else with an initial condition of more general form $P_0(\mathbf{x}) = W(\mathbf{x})$.

It is similarly easy to obtain also an equation for the probability density

$$\mathcal{P}_m(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1; \ldots; \mathbf{x}_m, t_m) = \langle \delta(\boldsymbol{\xi}(t_1) - \mathbf{x}_1) \ldots \delta(\boldsymbol{\xi}(t_m) - \mathbf{x}_m) \rangle,$$
(2.12)

which pertains to m different instants of time.

Let $t_1 < t_2 < \ldots < t_{m-1} < t_m$. Differentiating (2.12) with respect to t_m , and then using the dynamic equation (2.1), formula (2.9), the causality condition (2.2), and relation (2.3), we can obtain the equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathscr{P}_{m}}{\partial t_{m}} (\mathbf{x}_{i}, t_{i}; \ldots; \mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{mi}} \{ [v_{i} (\mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m}) + A_{i} (\mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m})] \mathscr{P}_{m} \}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x_{mi} \partial x_{mj}} [F_{ij} (\mathbf{x}_{m}, \mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m}) \mathscr{P}_{m}]$$
(2.13)

(we do not sum here over the index m). The initial condition of (2.13) can be obtained from (2.12). Putting $t_m = t_{m-1}$ in (2.12) and noting that

$$\delta (\xi (t_{m-1}) - \mathbf{x}_{m-1}) \, \delta (\xi (t_{m-1}) - \mathbf{x}_m) = \delta (\mathbf{x}_m - \mathbf{x}_{m-1}) \, \delta (\xi (t_{m-1}) - \mathbf{x}_{m-1}),$$

we obtain

$$\mathcal{P}_{m}(\mathbf{x}_{1}, t_{1}; \ldots; \mathbf{x}_{m-1}, t_{m-1}; \mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m-1}) = \delta(\mathbf{x}_{m} - \mathbf{x}_{m-1}) \mathcal{P}_{m-1}(\mathbf{x}_{1}, t_{1}; \ldots; \mathbf{x}_{m-1}, t_{m-1}).$$
(2.14)

We can seek the solution of (2.13) in the form

496 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

$$\mathcal{P}_{m}(\mathbf{x}_{1}, t_{1}; \ldots; \mathbf{x}_{m-1}, t_{m-1}; \mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m}) = p(\mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m} \mid \mathbf{x}_{m-1}, t_{m-1}) \mathcal{P}_{m-1}(\mathbf{x}_{1}, t_{1}; \ldots; \mathbf{x}_{m-1}, t_{m-1}).$$
(2.15)

Since all the differential operations in (2.13) pertain to x_m and t_m it follows that, substituting (2.15) in (2.13) and (2.14), we obtain an equation for the probability density of the transition (we denote x_m and t_m by x and t, and x_{m-1} and t_{m-1} by x_0 and t_0)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} p(\mathbf{x}, t | \mathbf{x}_0, t_0) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \{ [v_i(\mathbf{x}, t) + A_i(\mathbf{x}, t)] p \}$$

$$= \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} [F_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, t) p(\mathbf{x}, t | \mathbf{x}_0, t_0)]$$
(2.16)

with the initial condition

$$p(\mathbf{x}, t_0 | \mathbf{x}_0, t_0) = \delta(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}_0).$$
 (2.17)

By a second application of formula (2.15), we obtain the expression

$$\mathcal{P}_m(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1; \ldots; \mathbf{x}_m, t_m)$$

$$= p (\mathbf{x}_{m}, t_{m} | \mathbf{x}_{m-1}, t_{m-1}) p (\mathbf{x}_{m-1}, t_{m-1} | \mathbf{x}_{m-2}, t_{m-2}),$$

... $p (\mathbf{x}_{2}, t_{2} | \mathbf{x}_{1}, t_{1}) P_{t_{1}} (\mathbf{x}_{1}) (t_{m} > t_{m-1} > \dots > t_{2} > t_{1}), (2.18)$

where $P_{t_1}(x_1)$ is the probability density defined by (2.10) and (2.11), and pertains to one instant of time. Expression (2.18) for the many-time probability density in terms of a product of the transition probability densities p denotes that $\xi(t)$ is a random Markov process.

Thus, we can make the following statement.

If the nonlinear dynamic system is described by Eq. (2.1), in which the random "force" f(x, t) satisfies the conditions (a) and (b), and is δ -correlated in time (i.e., its correlation tensor takes the form specified by the right-hand side of (2.4)), then the random process $\xi(t)$ is a Markov process, and is described by the EFE (2.10) or by relations (2.16)-(2.18).

An important role is played here by the causality condition (2.2), which follows from Eq. (2.1) itself and from its initial conditions.

These facts are well known (see, for example, the monographs^[19,20]</sup>). A derivation of the EFE by the method described above is contained in^[21].</sup>

In a number of physical problems one deals not with a finite-dimensional system of ordinary differential equations, but with a system of partial differential equations ($n = \infty$). In this case the concept of the probability density is not always meaningful, and it is necessary to consider a characteristic functional for the corresponding fields. The equation for the characteristic functional is in this case a functional equation with variational derivatives and constitutes an infinite-dimensional analog of the EFE, so that the described approximation can be called the diffusive random-process approximation.

Let us examine in greater detail the quantities contained in (2.10). The terms of Eq. (2.10) with A_k and F_{kl} are due to fluctuations of the field $f_j(x, t)$. If the field **f** is stationary in time, then the quantities A_k and F_{kl} do not depend on t. If furthermore in all the spatial coordinates the field **f** is homogeneous and isotropic, then the quantity $F_{kl}(x, x, t)$ is a constant corresponding to a constant diffusion coefficient, and $A_k(x, t) = 0$.¹⁾ Let now the field **f** not be spatially homogeneous. If the intensity of the fluctuations of **f** is low enough, then the fluctuations of $\xi(t)$, due to the fluctuations of **f**, are also sufficiently small in a number of cases. In this case we can expand $f_i(x, t)$ in the right-hand side of (2.1) in a series in the spatial variables about the point $\mathbf{x} = \xi_0$:

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskil

$$f_i(\mathbf{x}, t) = a_i(t) + b_{ij}(t)(x_j - \xi_{0j}), \qquad (2.19)$$

where the quantities $a_i(t)$ and $b_{ij}(t)$ are Gaussian random quantities that are stationary in time. The first term in (2.19) leads to a constant diffusion coefficient, and the second leads to a diffusion coefficient that is quadratic in the spatial variables. These diffusion coefficients possess that property that the terms corresponding to them in (2.10) are "homogeneous" in the sense that if we write down with the aid of (2.10) equations for the moments of the function $\xi(t)$, then the diffusive terms generate moments of ξ of order not higher than the considered one. If furthermore the determined functions $v_i(x, t)$ are also linear functions of the spatial arguments, then we obtain for the moments of any order of the function $\xi(t)$ equations that in many cases are more convenient for analysis than Eq. (2.10) itself.

b) Conditions for the applicability of the Einstein-Fokker equation. To derive the conditions for the applicability of the EFE it is necessary to take into account the finite correlation radius τ_0 of the field $f_j(\mathbf{x}, t)$ with respect to the temporal coordinate. In this case we obtain in place of (2.10)

$$\dot{E}P_t(\mathbf{x}) = -\partial S'_h(\mathbf{x}, t) / \partial x_h, \qquad (2.20)$$

where \hat{E} is the operator in the left-hand side of (2.10), in which $F_{kl}(x, x, t)$ is replaced by

$$\widetilde{F}_{kl}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}', t) = \int_{0}^{t} dt' B_{kl}(\mathbf{x}, t; \mathbf{x}', t'), \qquad (2.21)$$

and $S'_k(\mathbf{x}, t)$ are corrections to the probability flux density vector to account for the finite value of τ_0 . We note that as $\tau_0 \rightarrow 0$ the right-hand side of (2.20) tends to zero, and we return to (2.10). In the general case, Eq. (2.20) differs from the EFE in two respects: F_{kl} is replaced by \widetilde{F}_{kl} , and (2.20) acquires a right-hand side. The difference between \widetilde{F}_{kl} and F_{kl} is noticeable only in the region $t \leq \tau_0$. Allowance for S'_k imposes limitations, generally speaking, on the intensity of the fluctuations of the field f. Expressions corresponding to the system of Eqs. (2.1) are given for S'_k in $[^{21}]$. In the general case these expressions are rather cumbersome, and each different physical problem requires its own condition for the applicability of the diffusive random-process approximation.

Thus, the condition that the parameter τ_0/T be small is necessary but, generally speaking, insufficient to be able to describe the statistical characteristics of the solution of the system (2.1) on the basis of the diffusive random-process approximation (EFE), and for each particular problem it is necessary to carry out more detailed investigations.

We proceed now to consider particular physical problems. The simplest problems of this type are those of Brownian motion of various dynamic systems.

3. BROWNIAN MOTION OF DYNAMIC SYSTEMS

When considering Brownian motion of dynamic systems, we start with the Langevin approach, which is based on the study of the statistical characteristics of the solutions of phenomenological stochastic equations. We shall not dwell on the justification of this approach, on its connection with other methods of describing Brownian motion, and on the conditions of its applicability. These questions have been adequately investigated

of any order of $m\mathbf{r}_i + \mu \mathbf{r}_i + \partial U/\partial \mathbf{r}_i = \mathbf{f}_i (t) \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., n),$

Langevin equation

where μ is the effective friction coefficient, and the random forces $f_i(t)$, the mean value of which is zero, are described by the function

and their exposition can be found in many papers, both original and surveys [1-5, 22-27, 95], which a complete

a) Brownian motion of a system of interacting particles. We consider a system of n particles with mass m,

 $V(\mathbf{r}_1, ..., \mathbf{r}_n)$, and placed in a thermostat consisting of a

tween the thermostat particles and the singled-out parti-

cles is short in comparison with all the other character-

istic times, then we can use for the particle motion the

gas of lighter particles. If the time of interaction be-

bibliography of these problems can also be found.

interacting with one another with a potential

$$\langle f_{i}^{\alpha}(t) f_{j}^{\beta}(t') \rangle = 2D\delta_{ij}\delta_{\alpha\beta}\delta(t-t')$$
(3.2)

(3.1)

(α and β are vector indices).

Equation (3.1) can be written in the standard form (2.1), by introducing the momenta $\mathbf{p}_i = m\dot{\mathbf{r}}_i$ and the Hamiltonian $H = (p_i^2/2m) + V(\mathbf{r}_1, ..., \mathbf{r}_n)$:

$$\dot{\mathbf{r}}_{i} = \partial H / \partial \mathbf{p}_{i}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{p}}_{i} = - \partial H / \partial \mathbf{r}_{i} - (\mu/m) \mathbf{p}_{i} + \mathbf{f}_{i}(t). \quad (3.3)$$

Then the EFE corresponding to (3.3) take the form

$$\frac{\partial P_t(\mathbf{r}, p)}{\partial t} = \sum_{k=1}^n \{P_t H\}_{(k)} - (\mu/m) \sum_{k=1}^n \partial \{\mathbf{p}_k P_t\} / \partial \mathbf{p}_k = D \sum_{k=1}^n \partial^2 P_t / \partial p_k^*,$$
(3.4)

where

$$\{\varphi, \psi\}_{(k)} = (\partial \varphi / \partial \mathbf{p}_k) \ \partial \psi / \partial \mathbf{r}_k - (\partial \varphi / \partial \mathbf{r}_k) \ \partial \psi / \partial \mathbf{p}_k$$

is the Poisson bracket for the k-th particle.

It is easy to verify that the stationary solution of (3.4) takes the form of a Gibbs canonical distribution

$$P_{\infty}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}) = \text{const} \cdot \exp(-\beta H) \quad (\beta = 1/kT),$$
 (3.5)

and in order that (3.5) be a solution of (3.4) it is necessary to satisfy the relation

$$D = \mu/\beta = \mu kT, \qquad (3.6)$$

where k is the Boltzmann constant and T is an equilibrium temperature; relation (3.6) is Einstein's formula for the diffusion coefficient².

Integrating (3.5) over all \mathbf{r}_i , we obtain a Maxwellian velocity distribution describing the velocity fluctuations of the Brownian particles. The case when U is a positive quadratic form of its arguments describes the Brownian motion of a system of coupled oscillators. To demonstrate the general procedure given in the second part of the paper, we shall dwell on this case in greater detail.

b) Brownian motion of an oscillator. One-dimensional Brownian motion of an oscillator, according to (3.1) is described by the stochastic equation

$$\begin{aligned} x + \mu x + \omega^2 x &= f(t) \quad (m = 1), \\ f(t) f(t') \rangle &= 2\mu k T \delta(t - t'), \quad \langle f(t) \rangle = 0. \end{aligned}$$
(3.1')

We rewrite Eq. (3.1') in the form of the system of equations

$$x = y, \quad y = -\mu y - \omega^2 x + f(t).$$
 (3.7)

For the initial conditions for the system (3.7) we assume x = 0 and y = 0 at t = 0.

Averaging (3.7) over the ensemble f, we obtain $\langle x\rangle$ = $\langle y\rangle$ = 0 for t > 0.

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

497 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

We now consider the equal-time correlations of the functions x(t) and y(t). In the derivation of the equations for them, there arise terms due to the correlations of f(t) with x and y, taken at the same instant of time. To calculate these correlations, we use formula (2.9) and take into account the relations $\delta x(t)/\delta f(t) = 0$, $\delta y(t)/\delta f(t) = 1$. Then the system of equations for the equal-time correlations becomes

$$d \langle x^2 \rangle / dt = 2 \langle xy \rangle, \quad d \langle xy \rangle / dt = \langle y^2 \rangle - \mu \langle xy \rangle - \omega^2 \langle x^2 \rangle, \quad (3.8)$$

and

$$d \langle y^2 \rangle / dt = -2\mu \langle y^2 \rangle - 2\omega^2 \langle xy \rangle + 2\mu kT, \qquad (3.9)$$

and the initial conditions for it are the conditions

$$\langle x^2 \rangle = \langle xy \rangle = \langle y^2 \rangle = 0$$
 and $t = 0.$ (3.10)

The stationary solution of the system (3.8) and (3.9) is

$$\langle xy \rangle = 0,$$
 (3.11)
 $\langle y^2 \rangle = \omega^2 \langle x^2 \rangle = kT$ (3.12)

in accordance with the law of equipartition of the energy over the degrees of freedom.

We consider now the temporal correlations of the functions x and y. It is easily seen that they are determined by the dynamics of the system (3.1') in the absence of random forces. In fact, assume for the sake of argument that t > t'. Then, multiplying (3.7) by x(t') and averaging, we obtain the system of equations

$$(d/dt) \langle x(t) x(t') \rangle = \langle y(t) x(t') \rangle,$$
 (3.13)

$$\langle J/dt \rangle \langle y(t) x(t') \rangle = -\mu \langle y(t) x(t') \rangle - \omega^2 \langle x(t) x(t') \rangle, \quad (3.14)$$

the boundary conditions for which are expressed in terms of the equal-time correlations at t = t'. In the derivation of (3.11)-(3.14) we use the fact that $\langle f(t)x(t') \rangle = 0$ at t > t', since the function f is δ -correlated.

A similar system of equations can be obtained also for other temporal correlations, both in the case t > t' and for t < t'. The solutions of these systems can be easily obtained and we shall not stop to discuss them here.

c) Brownian motion of hydrodynamic-type systems. We now discuss a different class of phenomena, which are closely related to Brownian motion, namely equilibrium thermal fluctuations in a continuous medium.

The equilibrium thermal fluctuations can be described within the framework of macroscopic variables (for a discussion of this question see, e.g., ^[28]), by including in the corresponding macroscopic equations the "extraneous forces"—Gaussian random fields, which are δ -correlated in time (this has a direct bearing on the fluctuation-dissipation theorem; see, e.g., ^[29], Appendix 1). The correlation theories of equilibrium thermal fluctuations constructed on this basis in electrodynamics, hydrodynamics, and in elastic-viscous media are described in^[29-82].

In Chap. 8 below we shall dwell in greater detail on equilibrium hydrodynamic fluctuations. Here we note only the following circumstance. It is well known that there are many hydrodynamic phenomena described by finite numbers of degrees of freedom (for example, thermal convection, the flow of liquid between rotating cylinders). To describe such phenomena, Obukhov^[33-35] has introduced the concept of mechanical systems of the hydrodynamic type (HTS) S_n, defined by finite sets of

498 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

quantities $\{v_n\}$, the dynamic equations for which have the same properties as the equations of hydrodynamics of an ideal incompressible liquid (quadratic nonlinearity, energy conservation, regularity³). We note that these systems are generally speaking not Hamiltonian. The simples such system (S₃) is analogous to the Euler equations in the dynamics of a rigid body.

Hydrodynamic-type systems, with allowance for linear friction, can be described by the dynamic equations

$$dv_i/dt = F_i$$
 (v) $-\lambda^{(i)}v_i$ (i = 1, ..., N), (3.15)

where $\lambda^{(i)}$ is the friction coefficient of the i-th component of the N-dimensional vector⁴⁾ **v**, and $\mathbf{F}_i(\mathbf{v})$ is a function quadratic in **v** and has the following properties:

a) $V_i F_i(\mathbf{v}) = 0$ (at $\lambda^{(1)} = 0$ we get the energy conservation law dE/dt = 0, $E = v_i^2/2$);

b) $\partial F_i / \partial v_i = 0$ (at $\lambda^{(i)} = 0$ the conditions of the Liouville theorem are satisfied, and the equality b) is the incompressibility equation $\partial \dot{v_i} / \partial v_i = 0$ in phase space).

Equilibrium thermal fluctuations are described in HTS by Eq. (3.13), in which we include the "extraneous forces" $f_i(t)$:

$$\frac{dv_i}{dt} = F_i(\mathbf{v}) - \lambda^{(i)}v_i + f_i(t), \qquad (3.16)$$

which are Gaussian random fluctuations, δ -correlated in time, with a correlation tensor

$$\langle f_i(t) f_j(t') \rangle = 2\mu_{(0)}^* \delta_{ij} \delta(t-t') \left(\langle \mathbf{f} \rangle = 0 \right)$$
(3.17)

We note that the system (3.16) can be regarded as a system of equations describing the Brownian motion of the HTS. In this case the coefficients $\lambda^{(i)}$ are certain effective friction coefficients. Thus, in the case N = 3, the system (3.16) describes rotational Brownian motion of a rigid body in a medium (in velocity space), and the quantities $\lambda^{(i)}v_i$ are determined as the corresponding forces.

The probability density for the solution v(t) of Eqs. (3.16), i.e., the function $P_t(v) = \langle \delta(v(t) - v) \rangle$), satisfies in accordance with (2.10) the EFE

$$\partial P_{t_i}(\mathbf{v})/\partial t = -(\partial/\partial v_i) \left\{ F_i(\mathbf{v}) P_t \right\} + \lambda^{(i)} \left(\partial/\partial v_i \right) \left\{ v_i P_t \right\} + \mu^{\mathbf{s}}_{(i)} \partial^2 P_t / \partial v_i^{\mathbf{s}}. \quad (3.18)$$

A stationary solution of Eq. (3.18), independent of the initial data, should have the character of a Maxwellian distribution corresponding to the law of equipartition of the energy over the degrees of freedom:

$$P_{\infty}(\mathbf{v}) = \operatorname{const} \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{v_{t}^{*}}{2kT}\right). \tag{3.19}$$

Substituting (3.19) in (3.18) we obtain for $\mu_{(1)}^2$ the relations

$$\mu_{(i)}^2 = \lambda^{(i)} kT \quad \text{(Einstein's formula).} \quad (3.20)$$

By virtue of conditions (a) and (b), we have here $(\partial/\partial v_i) \{F_i(v)P_{\infty}(v)\} \equiv 0$. Relations (3.17) and (3.20) thus determine completely the statistics of the "extraneous forces," and the nonlinear term in (3.16) plays no role in the equal-time fluctuations of v(t) (in analogy with the case of Hamiltonian systems).

We note that Eqs. (3.16) with the expression for the correlations (3.17) can be used not only to describe equilibrium thermal fluctuations in SHT, but also the action of small-scale motions (for example, microturbulence) on large-scale motions. If the HTS can at the same time be described by the system of phenomenological equations (3.16) with $\lambda^{(1)} \equiv \lambda$ and $\mu^2_{(1)} \equiv \mu^2$, then the

stationary distribution of the probabilities for v has a form similar to the distribution (3.19):

$$P_{\infty}(\mathbf{v}) = \operatorname{const} \cdot \exp\left[-(\lambda/2\mu^2) v_i^2\right]. \qquad (3.21)$$

Assume now that the HTS is acted upon by a regular force g. In this case the thermal fluctuations are not in equilibrium. From physical considerations, however, it is natural to assume that they can be described by the equation

$$dv_i/dt = F_i(\mathbf{v}) - \lambda^{(i)}v_i + f_i(t) + g_i$$
 (3.22)

with the same "extraneous forces" as in (3.16).⁵⁾

In the absence of fluctuations, the system (3.22) has stationary solutions described by the solution of the system of algebraic equations

$$F_i(\mathbf{v}_{st}) + g_i = \lambda^{(i)} v_{ist}$$
 (3.23)

The solution of the system (3.23) is not unique, and when choosing definite solutions one must take into account their stability with respect to infinitesimally small perturbations.

Let us consider by way of example the simplest system (S_3) , which we write in dimensionless form:

$$v_{0} = v_{2}^{*} - v_{1}^{*} - v_{0} + R + f_{0}(t), \quad v_{1} = v_{0}v_{1} - v_{1} + f_{1}(t),$$

$$v_{2} = -v_{0}v_{2} - v_{2} + f_{2}(t), \quad \langle f_{i}(t+\tau)f_{i}(t) \rangle = 2\delta_{i}j\sigma^{2}\delta(\tau).$$
(3.24)

In the absence of "extraneous forces," this system is equivalent to the dynamic description of the motion of a gyroscope with isotropic friction, excited by a constant external torque, relative to an unstable axis, and can be realized in the well known problem of the motion of a liquid in an ellipsoidal cavity^[35,36]. The stationary solution of this system is determined by the parameter R = Re (by the Reynolds number). The critical value is in this case $Re_{CT} = 1$. If Re > 1, this regime becomes unstable with respect to infinitesimally small perturbations, and a new regime $v_{0 \text{ st}} = 1$, $v_{1 \text{ st}} = \pm (Re - 1)^{1/2}$, $v_{2 \text{ st}} = 0$ is established. A randomness element is present here, namely, the quantity $v_{1 \text{ st}}$ can be either positive or negative, depending on the sign of the amplitudes of the infinitesimally small perturbations.

The system (3.24) was simulated numerically in^[37]. Figures 1 and 2 show the solutions of this system, corresponding to two realizations of the field f(t) at Re = 6 and σ^2 = 0.01. The function $v_2(t)$, which is not shown in these figures, fluctuates little about the position $v_2 \sim 0$.

The stationary distribution of the probabilities for v₁ The stationary distribution of an equilibrium result of the stationary distribution of the statically in Fig. 3, at Re >1 has a form shown schematically in Fig. 3, with two maxima in the vicinity of $v_1 = \pm (Re - 1)^{-1}$ corresponding to stable stationary states, and with a minimum at $v_1 = 0$, corresponding to an unstable state. We note that this probability distribution corresponds to averaging over the ensemble of realizations of the field f(t). On the other hand, if there is one realization, then the system will arrive, with probability 1/2, at one of the positions corresponding to the maximum of the distribution. In this case there will be formed a probability distribution (with averaging over the time) in the vicinity of the positions of the maximum (Fig. 4). However, owing to the existence of values of sufficiently large functions f(t), the system will be transferred, after the lapse of a certain time T (which is larger the smaller σ^2 and the larger Re), from one state into another (for details see Chap. 4). Figure 5 shows the solution of the system (3.24) for one realization of f(t) at Re = 6 and σ^2 = 0.1.



FIG. 1. Numerical solution of the system (3.24) for one realization of the random forces at **Re** = 6 and $\sigma^2 = 0.01$. The solid line shows the component v_0 , and the dashed line v_1 .



FIG. 2. Numerical solution of the system (3.24) for another realization of the random forces at $\mathbf{Re} = 6$ and $\sigma^2 = 0.01$. The solid line shows the component v_0 , and the dashed line shows v_1 .



FIG. 3. Stationary probability distribution density at Re > 1 for the component v_1 of a dynamic system (3.24) (averaging over the ensemble of random forces).

FIG. 4. Probability distribution densities for the component v_1 of the system (3.24), obtained for one realization of the random forces (averaging over the time).



FIG. 5. Numerical solution of the system (3.24) for one realization of the random forces at $\mathbf{Re} = 6$ and $\sigma^2 = 0.1$, illustrating the "transfer" phenomenon. The solid line shows the component v_0 , and the dashed line shows v_1 .

where such a transfer was realized. Thus, the probability distribution shown in Fig. 3 will be formed only within a time $t \gg T$ (ergodicity).

4. NONLINEAR OSCILLATOR UNDER THE ACTION **OF RANDOM FORCES**

By way of example of a nonlinear dynamic problem that admits of an exact solution, we consider the equation ..

$$x + \alpha x + \omega_0^2 x + \beta x^3 = f(t) \quad (\alpha, \beta > 0), \quad \langle f_i^{(t)} f(t') \rangle = 2D\delta(t - t'), \quad (4.1)$$

which describes the motion of the nonlinear oscillator with linear friction, excited by a random Gaussian force that is δ -correlated in t.

In the case $\alpha = 0$ and f = 0, this equation is called the Duffing equation.

Equation (4.1) can be rewritten in standard form for the functions x(t) and y(t) = x(t):

$$\dot{x} = \partial H/\partial y, \quad \dot{y} = -\partial H/\partial x - \alpha y + f(t), \quad (4.2)$$

where H = $(y^2/2) + (\omega_0^2 x^2/2) + \beta(x^4/4)$.

.

The EFE for the joint probability density of x and y, is given according to (2.10) by

$$\partial P_t(x, y)/\partial t + \{P_t, H\} - \alpha \partial \{yP_t\}/\partial y = D \partial^2 P_t/\partial y^2,$$
 (4.3)

where $\{P_t, H\} = (\partial P_t / \partial x) \partial H / \partial y - (\partial P_t / \partial y) \partial H / \partial x$ is a Poisson bracket.

The stationary solution of (4.3) takes a form analogous to the Gibbs distribution (3.5):

$$P_{\infty}(x, y) = \operatorname{const} \exp(-\alpha H/D).$$
 (4.4)

It is seen from the solution (4.4) that the stationary distribution of the probability for y(t) is a Gaussian distribution, and the probability distribution for the quantity x(t) itself is not Gaussian, and they do not correlate with each other.

Integrating (4.4) with respect to y, we obtain the probability distribution for x

$$P_{\infty}(x) = \text{const} \cdot \exp \{-(\alpha/D) [(\omega_0^2 x^2/2) + (\beta x^4/4)]\}. \quad (4.5)$$

This distribution has a maximum at the point x = 0, corresponding to a stable equilibrium position. Equation (4.5) can be rewritten in the form

$$P_{\infty}\left(\widetilde{x}\right) = \operatorname{const} \cdot \exp\left[-(\widetilde{x}^{2} + \widetilde{x}^{4})/\mu\right],$$

$$(\widetilde{x} = (\beta/2\omega_{*}^{5})^{1/2} x, \quad \mu = \beta D/\alpha\omega_{*}^{4}).$$
(4.6)

We note that at a specified ratio of the correlations (4.1), expression (4.5) is an exact solution of the problem. Eq. (4.1) was simulated in^[38] with an analog device, a white-noise generator being used as the source exciting the motion. The results of a comparison of the quantities $\langle \widetilde{x}^2 \rangle$ and $\langle \widetilde{x}^4 \rangle / \langle \widetilde{x}^2 \rangle^2$, obtained by numerical integration with the distribution (4.6), and of the corresponding quantities measured with the analog device, are shown in Fig. 6.

We consider now the equation

$$x + \alpha x - \omega_0^2 x + \beta x^3 = f(t)$$
 ($\alpha, \beta > 0$). (4.7)

In this case the EFE is of the same form as in (4.3), where

$$H = (y^2/2) + U(x), \quad U(x) = -(\omega_0^2 x^2/2) + (\beta x^4/4). \quad (4.8)$$

The stationary distribution of the probabilities for the quantity x(t) is given by

$$P_{\infty}(x) = \operatorname{const} \cdot \exp(-\alpha U(x)/D). \qquad (4.9)$$

The distribution (4.9) is shown in Fig. 7 and has maxima at the points $x = \pm (\omega_0^2/\beta)^{1/2}$ and a minimum at the point x = 0, corresponding to the positions of the stable and

500 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974



FIG. 6. The solid line corresponds to calculation in accordance with the distribution (4.6), and the experimental points correspond to quantities measured with an analog device.



unstable equilibrium in the problem of oscillations described by the nonlinear equation (4.7) at $\alpha = 0$ and f = 0(see, e.g., ^[39]). The transition from the initial state to the stationary state occurs in this case in two stages: a Maxwellian velocity distribution is first established rapidly, followed by a much slower establishment of the distribution (4.9) over the coordinates. The second stage is described by the Einstein-Smoluchowski equation (see, e.g., ^[28])

$$\partial P_t(x)/\partial t = (1/\alpha) (\partial/\partial x) [(\partial U/\partial x) P_t] + (D/\alpha^2) \partial^2 P_t/\partial x^2,$$
 (4.10)

which is the EFE for a stochastic dynamic system described by the equation

$$xx = \omega_0^2 x - \beta x^3 + f(t) \quad (\alpha, \beta > 0).$$
(4.11)

Introducing the dimensionless coordinates $x \rightarrow (\omega_0^2/\beta)^{1/2} x$ and time $t \rightarrow (\alpha/\omega_0^2) t$, we can rewrite (4.10) in the form

$$\frac{\partial P_t}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{\partial U}{\partial x} P_t \right) + \mu \frac{\partial^2 P_t}{\partial x^2} \quad \left(\mu = \frac{\beta D}{\alpha \omega_b^4} , \ U(x) = -\frac{x^2}{2} + \frac{x^4}{4} \right).$$
(4.12)

Since the stationary distribution (4.9) is similar to the distribution for v_1 (see Fig. 3), it follows that everything said above concerning the behavior of v_1 applies to the present problem. Let us estimate the time in which the system goes over from one most probable state (x = -1)to the other (x = 1), following the classical paper [40] (see also [41]).

Assume that at instant t = 0 the system described by Eq. (4.10) is at the point ξ , i.e., $P_0(x) = \delta(x - \xi)$. Then the probability that a random point situated at the initial instant at the point ξ inside a segment (a, b) will leave this segment after a time t, going (at least once) through either the point a or the point b, satisfies the equation

$$\partial \varphi (t, \xi) / \partial t = - (\partial U (\xi) / \partial \xi) \partial \varphi / \partial \xi + \mu \partial^2 \varphi / \partial \xi^2, \qquad (4.13)$$

which must be solved with the initial and boundary conditions

$$\varphi(0, \xi) = 0, \quad \varphi(t, a) = \varphi(t, b) = 1, \quad \varphi(\infty, \xi) = 1.$$
 (4.14)

The average time required for the random point to

leave the segment (a, b) is a, b T(ξ) = $\int_{0}^{\infty} t \left[\frac{\partial \varphi(t, \xi)}{\partial t} \right] dt$ and satisfies, as can be readily seen, the equation

 $\mu d^{2}T/d\xi^{2} - (\partial U(\xi)/d\xi) dT/d\xi = -1, \quad T(a) = T(b) = 0. \quad (4.15)$ Equation (4.15) is easy to solve, and we obtain for the

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

average time of the transition of the system from the state x = -1 to the state x = 1 the expression

1 5

$$T = \frac{1}{\mu} \int_{-1}^{1} d\xi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\eta \exp \left\{ \frac{1}{\mu} [U(\xi) - U(\eta)] \right\}$$

$$= \frac{C(\mu)}{\mu} \int_{0}^{1} d\xi \exp \left[\frac{1}{\mu} U(\xi) \right], \quad C(\mu) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\xi \exp \left[-\frac{1}{\mu} U(\xi) \right].$$
(4.16)

 $T \approx \sqrt{2}\pi \exp(1/4\mu)$ at $\mu \ll 1$, i.e., the average transition time increases exponentially with decreasing intensity of the forced fluctuations.

5. PARAMETRIC RESONANCE IN AN OSCILLATING SYSTEM WITH RANDOM PARAMETERS

We consider now the statistical description of the oscillator, described by a linear equation but with fluctuating coefficients⁶:

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2} + [1 + f(t)] x = 0, \qquad (5.1)$$

where f is a random Gaussian function characterized by its correlation function $\langle f(t) f(t + \tau) \rangle = F(\tau)$. Such equations arise for example, in the problem of parametric excitation of oscillations in electric circuits with fluctuating circuit parameters^[42], in the problem of tsunami propagation over a statistically rough sea floor^[43], the one-dimensional problem of propagation of waves in a medium with fluctuating parameters^[44-47], etc.

We consider Eq. (5.1) with initial conditions x(0) = 0and $\dot{x}(0) = 1$. We rewrite (5.1) in the form of the system of equations

$$\dot{x} = y, \quad \dot{y} = -x - xf(t).$$
 (5.2)

In the diffusive random process approximation, the probability densities of the functions x(t) and y(t) satisfy, in accord with (2.10), the EFE

$$\partial P_t / \partial t = -y \, \partial P_t / \partial x + x \, \partial P_t / \partial y + \mu^2 x^2 \partial^2 P_t / \partial y^2 \quad \left(\mu^2 = (1/2) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau F(\tau)\right)$$
(5.3)

with initial conditions $P_0(x, y) = \delta(x)\delta(y-1)$.

Equation (5.3) corresponds to an EFE with a quadratic diffusion coefficient, and cannot be solved in the general case⁷⁾. However, as indicated in Chap. 2, in this case we can obtain closed systems of equations for moments of any order. Thus, for the mean values of x(t)and y(t) we obtain the system of equations

$$\langle x \rangle = \langle y \rangle, \quad \langle y \rangle = - \langle x \rangle, \quad (5.4)$$

The solution of which with the initial conditions $\langle x(0) \rangle = 0$, $\langle y(0) \rangle = 1$ is

$$\langle x(t) \rangle = \sin t, \quad \langle y(t) \rangle = \cos t$$
 (5.5)

and coincides with the solution of (5.1) in the absence of fluctuations. The second moments of the quantities x(t) and y(t) are described by a system of equations

$$\begin{array}{l} d \langle x^2 \rangle / dt = 2 \langle xy \rangle, \quad d \langle xy \rangle / dt = \langle y^2 \rangle - \langle x^2 \rangle, \\ d \langle y^2 \rangle / dt = -2 \langle xy \rangle + 2\mu^2 \langle x^2 \rangle \end{array}$$

$$(5.6)$$

with initial conditions

$$\langle x^2 \rangle = \langle xy \rangle = 0, \quad \langle y^2 \rangle = 1 \text{ for } t = 0.$$
 (5.7)

We note that the solution of the system (5.6) contains terms that increase with time, corresponding to statistical parametric buildup of the dynamic system (5.2) as a result of fluctuations of parameters. In the case of weak fluctuations, the growth increment is $\sim \mu^2$ ($\mu^2 \ll 1$). In the presence of weak friction in the system (described by a term $-\gamma \dot{x}$ in the right-hand side of (5.1), ($\gamma \ll 1$),

501 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

parametric excitation takes place if the condition⁸, $\mu^2 > \gamma$ is satisfied.

For our problem, Eqs. (5.6) can be obtained also directly by starting from the system (5.2), in an analogy with the procedure used in Sec. b) of Chap. 3. In this case one uses formula (2.9) and the relations that follow from the character of the dynamic system (5.4):

$$\delta x(t)/\delta f(t) = 0, \quad \delta y(t)/\delta f(t) = -x(t).$$
 (5.8)

As to the temporal correlations of the functions x(t)and y(t), it is easily seen that the temporal structure is described by dynamic equations of the type (5.2) in the absence of fluctuations and that the initial conditions to these equations will contain equal-time correlations defined by the system (5.6).

We now stop to discuss the conditions for the applicability of the diffusive random process approximation to the problem in question. In principle it would be necessary to consider an equation of the type (2.13) for the probability density. If, however, we are interested only in the moments of the corresponding distribution, then it suffices to determine the conditions for the applicability of formulas (5.5) to the mean values, the applicability of (5.6) to the correlations, etc.

By way of illustration, we consider the derivation of the conditions for the applicability of formulas (5.5) to mean values, following [49].

Let us average the system (5.2). To calculate the correlation $\langle f(t)x(t) \rangle$ we use formula (2.9) and relation (5.2). Then the system of equations for the mean values is

$$\langle \dot{x} \rangle = \langle y \rangle, \ \langle \dot{y} \rangle = -\langle x \rangle - \int_{0}^{\tau} d\tau F(t-\tau) \langle \delta x(t) / \delta f(\tau) \rangle.$$
 (5.9)

The system (5.9) is not closed, since it contains a new unknown function $\delta x(t)/\delta f(\tau)$. We obtain an equation for this function by varying (5.2) with respect to $f(\tau)$ at $\tau < t$:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{\delta x(t)}{\delta f(\tau)} = \frac{\delta y(t)}{\delta f(\tau)}, \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{\delta y(t)}{\delta f(\tau)} = -\frac{\delta x(t)}{\delta f(\tau)} - f(t) \frac{\delta x(t)}{\delta f(\tau)}. \quad (5.10)$$

The boundary conditions for the system (5.10) are the expressions (5.8). When (5.10) is averaged, a new unknown function $\delta^2 x(t)/\delta f(\tau_1) \delta f(\tau_2)$ appears, etc. If the δ -correlation condition (F(τ) $\rightarrow 2\mu^2 \delta(\tau)$) is used in (5.9), then we arrive at the system (5.4), which corresponds to the EFE (5.3). The δ -correlation condition can be used in (5.10). We then obtain a closed system of higherorder equations, which is already more accurate (this will be discussed in greater detail in Chap. 10). In this approximation we have

$$\langle \delta x(t) / \delta f(\tau) \rangle = - \langle x(\tau) \rangle \sin(t - \tau)$$
 (5.11)

and Eq. (5.9) for $\langle x \rangle$ takes the form

$$\langle x \rangle + \langle x \rangle = \int_{0}^{t} d\tau F(\tau) \sin \tau \langle x(t-\tau) \rangle.$$
 (5.12)

The characteristic time of variation of the quantity $\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle$ is t ~ 1, and the quantity $\mathbf{F}(\tau)$ is characterized by a correlation radius τ_0 . If $\tau_0 \ll 1$, then we can neglect the change in the quantity $\langle \mathbf{x}(t-\tau) \rangle$ and confine ourselves to the first term of the expansion of $\sin \tau \text{ in } \tau$. For times t $\gg \tau_0$, the integration limit in (5.12) can be replaced by infinity, and consequently, (5.12) under the condition $\mu^2 \tau_0 \ll 1$ goes over into an equation corresponding to the EFE. Thus, the conditions for the applicability of the solution (5.5) are the conditions

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

which, generally speaking, impose a weak limitation on μ^2 .

The problem considered above concerning the statistical parametric buildup of a dynamic system due to fluctuations of the parameters could be described in the diffusive approximation because the initial conditions were specified at one point. On the other hand, if the boundary conditions are specified at different points, then the causality conditions (2.2) will not be satisfied for the corresponding problem, and it is consequently impossible to go over to the diffusive random process approximation. In a number of cases, however, it is possible to introduce certain auxiliary equations satisfying the causality condition, and consequently admitting of a transition to the diffusive approximation; the statistical characteristics of the solutions of the auxiliary equation determine the statistical properties of the formulated problem. By way of such an example we can indicate the one-dimensional problem of the propagation of a wave through a layer of a medium with fluctuating parameters $[^{44-47}]$.

Outside this layer, the wave is described by the equation

$$d^{2}u/dx^{2} + u = 0 \quad (-\infty < x < 0, \ L < x < \infty). \quad (5.14)$$

Inside the layer, the field of the wave satisfies the equation

$$d^{2}u/dx^{2} + [1 + \varepsilon(x)] u = 0 \quad (0 < x < L). \quad (5.15)$$

The boundary conditions for the considered problem are the conditions for the continuity of the functions uand du/dx at the boundaries of the layer. It is clear, that the considered problem does not satisfy the causality conditions (2.2) and cannot be directly described in the diffusive approximation.

Assume that a wave exp(ix) is incident on this fluctuating medium; then the solutions of the problem in the corresponding regions are

$$\begin{array}{l} u \ (x) = \exp \ (ix) + R \exp \ (-ix) & (-\infty < x \le 0), \\ u \ (x) = T \exp \ \{i \ (x - L)\} & (L \le x < \infty), \end{array}$$
 (5.16)

where R(L) and T(L) determine respectively the complex amplitudes of the reflected and transmitted waves. Inside the layer, on the other hand, the wave is described by Eq. (5.15) with the boundary conditions

$$u(0) = 1 + R, \quad du/dx \mid_{x=0} = i(1 - R), u(L) = T, \quad du/dx \mid_{x=L} = iT.$$
(5.17)

We note that the boundary conditions (5.17) are random and the amplitudes R and T must themselves be determined.

To find the statistical properties of the wave transmission and reflection coefficients we can write for them first-order equations in x with initial conditions at a single point. These equations already possess the causality property and therefore can be described in the diffusive approximation. We note that for the complex amplitude R(L) of the reflected wave itself it is possible to obtain a nonlinear differential equation of first order in L with a condition at L = 0.^[46]

6. PARTICLE DIFFUSION IN A RANDOM-VELOCITY FIELD

The study of the diffusion of particles, both liquid and impurity, in a turbulent flow has been the subject of many papers a detailed exposition of which is contained

502 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

in the monograph^[50]. We note only the classical work by Taylor^[51] who apparently was the first to pose and solve the problem of the diffusion of a single particle, and the work by Obukhov^[52], where it was proposed to describe the diffusion of an impurity in a turbulent stream as a Markov random process described by the Einstein-Fokker equation.

We consider the diffusion, in a three-dimensional field of random velocities, of a particle with coordinates described by the dynamic equation⁹⁾

$$d\mathbf{r}(t)/dt = \mathbf{V}(t), \quad \mathbf{V}(t) = \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}(t), t), \quad \mathbf{r}(0) = 0.$$
 (6.1)

The velocity field $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ will be regarded as a Gaussian random field with zero mean value, homogeneous and isotropic in space and stationary in time. It is completely characterized by its correlation tensor

$$B_{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \tau) = \langle u_i(\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{x}, t + \tau) u_j(\mathbf{r}, t) \rangle$$
(6.2)

or by the corresponding spatial spectral tensor

$$\Phi_{ij}(\varkappa, \tau) = (2\pi)^{-s} \int dx B_{ij}(x, \tau) \exp(-i\varkappa x). \quad (6.3)$$

According to the second part of the paper, in the diffusive random process approximation, the probability density for the particle position, i.e., the function $P_t(\mathbf{x}) = \langle \delta(\mathbf{r}(t) - \mathbf{x}) \rangle$ is described by the EFE

$$\partial P_t (\mathbf{x}) / \partial t = \partial^2 \left[F_{kl} P_t (\mathbf{x}) \right] / \partial x_k \partial x_l,$$
 (6.4)

where $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{l}}$ determines the tensor of the diffusion coefficients and

$$F_{kl} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau B_{kl}(0, \tau) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \int d\varkappa \Phi_{kl}(\varkappa, \tau)$$
 (6.5)

and for a statistically isotropic velocity field it takes the form $F_{kl} = F \delta_{kl}/3$.

The solution of (6.4) corresponds to a Gaussian probability distribution with a variance tensor

$$\langle r_i(t) r_j(t) \rangle = 2F_{ij}t. \tag{6.6}$$

We consider now the temporal correlation of the coordinates of the diffusing particle. Let, for example, t >t'. Then, multiplying the i-component of (6.1) by $\mathbf{r}_i(t')$ and averaging, we obtain

$$\begin{array}{l} (\partial/\partial t) \ \langle r_i \ (t) \ r_j \ (t') \rangle = \ \langle u_i \ (\mathbf{r} \ (t), \ t) \ r_j \ (t') \rangle, \\ \langle r_i \ (t) \ r_j \ (t') \rangle |_{t=t'} = 2F_{ij}t'. \end{array}$$

The right-hand side of (6.7), as can be readily seen, vanishes by virtue of the δ -correlation of the field **u** with respect to t, and therefore

$$\langle r_i(t) r_j(t') \rangle = 2F_{ij} \min\{t, t'\}.$$
 (6.8)

With the aid of (6.6) or (6.8) we can obtain the correlations of the position of the particle and its velocity, and the correlation between its velocities:

$$\langle r_i(t) V_j(t) \rangle = F_{ij}, \quad \langle V_i(t) V_j(t') \rangle = 0.$$
(6.9)

We consider now the problem of the joint diffusion of two particles. In this case we have the dynamic system

$$d\mathbf{r}_i/dt = \mathbf{u} (\mathbf{r}_i, t), \ \mathbf{r}_i (0) = r_i^0, \tag{6.10}$$

where i = 1 and 2 numbers the particles. Introducing the six-dimensional vectors $\boldsymbol{\xi} = \{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\},\$

 $\mathbf{f} = {\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}_1, t), \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{r}_2, t)}$, we can write down this system in the form (2.1), and consequently we can write for the joint probability density the EFE

$$P_t(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \langle \delta(\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{x}) \delta(\mathbf{r}_2 - \mathbf{y}) \rangle,$$

$$\frac{\partial P_t}{\partial t} = \left[\frac{l\partial^3}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} + \frac{\partial^3}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \right] F_{ij}(0) P_t + 2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial y_j} [F_{ij}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}) P_i],$$

(6.11)

. . .

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

~ /

In (6.11) we can introduce new variables $\rho = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}$, $\mathbf{R} = (\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{y})/2$. After changing over to the new variables, we can integrate with respect to \mathbf{R} and obtain an equation for the function $P_t(\rho) = \langle \delta(\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2 - \rho) \rangle$, which describes the relative diffusion of the two particles:

$$\partial P_t / \partial t = \partial^2 \left[D_{ii} \left(\rho \right) P_t \right] / \partial \rho_i \, \partial \rho_i, \tag{6.12}$$

where the quantity $D_{ij}(\rho) = 2[F_{ij}(0) - F_{ij}(\rho)]$ plays the role of the variable in the space of the diffusion-coefficient tensor.

In the case $\rho > l_0$ (l_0 is the spatial correlation radius of the field **u**), we have $D_{ij}(\rho) = 2F_{ij}(0)$. This relation denotes that if the initial distances between the particles are large in comparison with l_0 , their relative diffusion occurs with double the diffusion coefficient of one particle, corresponding to independent diffusion of each particle. The joint probability distribution can be regarded in this case as Gaussian.

In the general case, however, Eq. (6.12) cannot be solved. It is clear only that when the diffusion coefficient is variable the solution is not a Gaussian distribution.

The case $\rho \ll l_0$ admits, however, of a more complete analysis. Expanding $D_{ij}(\rho)$ in powers of ρ , we find that at $\rho \ll l_0$ we have

$$D_{ij}(\rho) = g_{ij,\alpha\beta}\rho_{\alpha}\rho_{\beta}, \quad g_{ij,\alpha\beta} = (1/2) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \int d\varkappa \kappa_{\alpha} \kappa_{\beta} \Phi_{ij}(\varkappa,\tau). \quad (6.13)$$

If Eq. (6.12) with the coefficients (6.13) is multiplied by ρ^2 and integrated over all ρ , then after integration by parts we obtain a closed equation for $\langle \rho^2 \rangle$

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle \boldsymbol{\rho}^2 \rangle = \gamma \langle \boldsymbol{\rho}^2 \rangle, \ \gamma = \frac{1}{3} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \int d\boldsymbol{\varkappa} \boldsymbol{\varkappa}^2 \Phi_{ii}(\boldsymbol{\varkappa}, \tau).$$
 (6.14)

Solving (6.14) with the initial condition $\langle \rho^2 \rangle|_{t=0} = \rho_0^2$, we obtain the solution

$$\langle \rho^2(t) \rangle = \rho_0^3 \exp{(\gamma t)}.$$
 (6.15)

For the time interval $\gamma t \ll 1$ it follows from (6.15) that

$$\langle \rho^2(t) \rangle = \rho_0^3 (1 + \gamma t).$$
 (6.16)

It is clear that in this case the probability distribution for $\rho(t)$ can also be regarded as Gaussian.

If there exists an interval of values of t on which $\gamma t \gg 1$, but nevertheless $\rho_0^2 \exp(\gamma t) \ll l_0^2$ (such an interval always exists for sufficiently small ρ_0), then the quantity $\langle \boldsymbol{\rho}^2(t) \rangle$ increases exponentially in this region. Formula (6.15) no longer holds when $\langle \boldsymbol{\rho}^2 \rangle$ becomes comparable with l_0^2 . At large values of t, the relative diffusion will be described by the formula

$$\langle \rho^2(t) \rangle = 4F_{ii}(0) t.$$
 (6.17)

We note that in the case when there is a constant average transport of particles by the field \mathbf{u} ($\langle \mathbf{u} \rangle = \mathbf{U}$), then the diffusion of an individual particle is described by the probability density $P_{\mathbf{t}}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{U}t)$, and the relative diffusion of the two particles does not depend on \mathbf{U} .

We now stop to discuss the conditions under which we can describe the diffusion of particles in the EFE approximation. We rewrite (6.1) in the form of an integral equation

$$r_{i}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} d\tau \int d\varkappa u_{i}(\varkappa, \tau) \exp \left[i\varkappa \times \mathbf{r}(\tau)\right], \qquad (6.18)$$

where

$$u_i(x, t) = (2\pi)^{-3} \int dx \, u_i(x, t) \exp(-i\kappa x).$$

503 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

The statistical characteristics of the field $u(\kappa, t)$ are determined completely by the spatial spectral tensor $\Phi_{ij}(\kappa, t)$ (6.3)

$$\langle u_i (\mathbf{q}_1, t+\tau) u_j (\mathbf{q}_2, t) \rangle = \delta (\mathbf{q}_1 + \mathbf{q}_2) \Phi_{ij} (\mathbf{q}_1, \tau). \quad (6.19)$$

Squaring (6.18) and averaging, we obtain for $\langle \mathbf{r}_{1}^{2}, (t) \rangle$ an equation consisting of two terms, the first of which is connected with the direct averaging of the product of the fields **u**, and the second with the correlation of the field **u** and the function **r**. We consider the first term, which can be written in the form

$$\int_{10}^{1}\int_{0}^{1}d\tau_{1} d\tau_{2} \int d\varkappa \Phi_{ii}(\varkappa, \tau_{1}-\tau_{2}) \langle \exp_{3}\{i\varkappa [\mathbf{r}(\tau_{1})-\mathbf{r}(\tau_{2})]\} \rangle. \quad (6.20)$$

Since we are interested only in the condition for the applicability of formula (6.6), obtained on the basis of the EFE (6.4), to estimate $\langle \mathbf{r}_{i}^{2}(t) \rangle$ it suffices to calculate the average value in (6.20) in the diffusion approximation. In this approximation, the quantities $\mathbf{r}(t)$ are Gaussian random functions determined by the correlation (6.8), and therefore the expression (6.20) can be rewritten in the form

$$2\int_{0}^{t} d\tau (t-\tau) \int d\varkappa \Phi_{ii}(\varkappa, \tau) \exp\left(-\frac{1}{3}\varkappa^{2}F\tau\right)$$

Let the field u be characterized by the temporal and spatial scales τ_0 and l_0 , respectively. In the case when the inequality $\mathbf{F}\tau_0 \ll l_0^2$ is satisfied, the exponential in the integral does not play any role, and can be replaced by unity. If we are interested here by times $t \gg \tau_0$ and take into account the fact that $\Phi_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{i}}(\boldsymbol{\kappa}, \tau)$ is even in τ , then we arrive at expression (6.6), but with the indices reversed. Thus, the first term obtained when $\langle \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{i}}^2 \rangle$ is calculated leads to (6.6) under the following conditions

$$F\tau_0 \ll l_0^s, \ t \gg \tau_0. \tag{6.21}$$

Allowance for the second term does not lead to any new limitations. Thus, the conditions (6.21) are conditions for the applicability of formula (6.6) and by the same token for the applicability of the diffusive approximation. The first inequality in (6.21) can be rewritten in a form that has a lucid physical meaning $\langle \mathbf{r}^2(\tau_0) \rangle \ll l_0^2$, i.e., it reduces to smallness of the displacement of the diffusing particle during the time τ_0 , in comparison with the spatial scale of the fluctuations of the field **u**.

We note that the diffusive approximation is not suitable to describe particle diffusion in a developed turbulent stream, for in this case it is precisely the relation $\langle \mathbf{r}^2(\tau_0) \rangle \sim l_0^2$ which holds true.

7. DIFFUSION OF RAYS IN RANDOMLY-INHOMOGENEOUS MEDIA

A problem closely related to that considered above is that of the diffusion of rays in randomly-inhomogeneous media, which serves in a large number of papers as the basis for describing the propagation of waves in a medium with fluctuating inhomogeneities in the geometricaloptics approximation [53-56].

Usually the variable describing the behavior of rays is the length of the ray l. Taking l to be the independent variable, we can write down the ray equations in the form

where $\mu = \ln n$, and n is the refractive index. The ray equations have been written in this form, for example,

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

 $in^{[57,58]}$. We assume that μ is a Gaussian homogeneous isotropic random field with zero mean value. If we introduce the six-vectors $\boldsymbol{\xi} = \{\mathbf{r}, \tau\}, \, \mathbf{v} = \{\boldsymbol{\tau}, 0\}$ and $\mathbf{f} = \{0, \mathbf{a}\}, \text{ where } \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}} = \langle \delta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}} - \tau_{\mathbf{i}} \tau_{\mathbf{k}} \rangle \partial \mu(\mathbf{r}) / \partial \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{k}}, \text{ then the system (7.1) can be rewritten in the form (2.1). Conditions$ (a) and (b) are satisfied, and as to the transition to the correlation-function approximation for μ with the aid of the δ function (2.4), we encounter here an unsurmountable difficulty. The point is that $a_i = a_i(\mathbf{r}, \tau) \equiv a_i(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ and does not depend on l (which in this case plays the role of the time). Formally it can be assumed that the function $B_{kl}(\xi, \xi', l, l')$ (which does not depend on l and l' in this case) has an infinite correlation interval with respect to the variable (l - l'), inasmuch as this function does not decrease at arbitrary ξ and ξ' . Thus, it is impossible to write down an EFE corresponding to the dynamic system (7.1).

It is possible, however, to write down ray equations by choosing as the independent variable the coordinate z. If the ray equation is sought in the form $\mathbf{R}_{\perp} = \mathbf{R}_{\perp}(z)$, where $\mathbf{R}_{\perp} = \{x, y\}$ is the transverse displacement, then we obtain in place of (7.1) the dynamic system

$$d\mathbf{R}_{\perp}(z)/dz = \tau_{\perp}(z)/(1-\tau_{\perp}^{2})^{1/2}, \ d\tau_{\perp}/dz = \mathbf{a}_{\perp}(\mathbf{R}_{\perp}, \tau_{\perp}, z)/(1-\tau_{\perp}^{2})^{1/2}, \ (7.2)$$

where $\tau_{\perp} = {\tau_x, \tau_y}$, $\mathbf{a}_{\perp} = {\mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2}$. We note, however, that in this form we can use the ray equation only up to the first turning point, where the denominator $(1 - \tau_{\perp}^2)^{1/2}$ vanishes. It follows therefore that in the statistical problem one can use the equations in (7.2) only in the region where the probability of negative τ_z is small, i.e., in the region of small ray inclination angles ($\tau_z \sim 1$). In this case we can write in place of (7.2) an approximate system of equations for the rays in the small-angle approximation:

$$d\mathbf{R}_{\perp}(z)/dz = \tau_{\perp}(z), \quad d\tau_{\perp}(z)/dz = \nabla_{\perp}\mu(\mathbf{R}_{\perp}, z). \tag{7.3}$$

For the system (7.3), an independent variable no longer enters among the arguments of f, and we can therefore go over to the diffusion approximation. The corresponding EFE (2.10) takes the form

$$\partial P_z / \partial z + \tau_\perp \partial P_z / \partial \mathbf{R}_\perp = D \partial^2 P_z / \partial \tau_\perp^2, \qquad (7.4)$$

where D is the diffusion coefficient, which arises when F_{kl} is calculated and is given for statistically homogeneous and isotropic fluctuations of μ by

$$D = \pi^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} dx x^{3} \Phi(x), \qquad (7.5)$$

 $\Phi(\kappa)$ is the three-dimensional spectral density of the correlation function μ .

Equation (7.4) can be easily solved, and its solution, corresponding to the initial condition $P_0(\mathbf{R}_{\perp}, \tau_{\perp}) = \delta(\mathbf{R}_{\perp})\delta(\tau_{\perp})$, takes the form of a Gaussian distribution with moments

On the basis of (7.3) we can easily obtain also the longitudinal correlation function of the ray displacements:

$$\frac{\langle \mathbf{R}_{\perp}(z) \, \mathbf{R}_{\perp}(z') \rangle}{\langle \langle \mathbf{R}_{\perp}^2(z) \rangle \langle \mathbf{R}_{\perp}^2(z') \rangle^{1/2}} = \left(1 + \frac{3}{2} \, \xi\right) \, (1 + \xi)^{-3/2}, \ \xi = \frac{|z - z'|}{z_{\min}}.$$
 (7.7)

We consider now the problem of joint diffusion of two rays. In this case we have the following eighth-order dynamic system:

$$\partial \mathbf{R}_{\perp i}/\partial z = \mathbf{\tau}_{\perp i}, \quad d\mathbf{\tau}_{\perp i}/dz = \partial \mathbf{\mu} (\mathbf{R}_{\perp i}, z)/\partial \mathbf{R}_{\perp i}$$

504 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

and, proceeding in analogy with the case of particle diffusion, we arrive at an EFE describing the relative diffusion of the rays,

$$P_{z} (\rho, \mathbf{l}) = \langle \delta (\mathbf{R}_{\perp 1} - \mathbf{R}_{\perp 2} - \rho) \delta (\mathbf{\tau}_{\perp 1} - \mathbf{\tau}_{\perp 2} - \mathbf{l}) \rangle,$$

$$\partial P_{z} / \partial z + \mathbf{l} \partial P_{z} / \partial \rho = D_{\alpha\beta} (\rho) \partial^{2} P_{z} / \partial l_{\alpha} \partial l_{\beta},$$

$$D_{\alpha\beta} (\rho) = 2\pi \int d\mathbf{x} [\mathbf{1} - \cos \mathbf{x} \rho] \mathbf{x}_{\alpha} \mathbf{x}_{\beta} \Phi (\mathbf{x}).$$
(7.9)

If l_0 is the correlation radius for the gradients of the refractive index, then $D_{\alpha\beta}(\rho) = 2D\delta_{\alpha\beta}$ at $\rho \gg l_0$. This relation means that if the initial distances between the rays are large in comparison with l_0 , then their relative diffusion takes place with double the diffusion coefficient, corresponding to independent diffusion of each ray. The joint probability distribution can be regarded in this case as Gaussian. In the case $\rho \ll l_0$ we have

$$D_{\alpha\beta}(\rho) = \pi B \left(\rho^2 \delta_{\alpha\beta} + 2\rho_{\alpha}\rho_{\beta}\right),$$

$$B = (\pi/4) \int_{0}^{\infty} d\varkappa \varkappa^5 \Phi(\varkappa).$$
(7.10)

We note that the quantity B determines in the geometrical-optics approximation the amplitude fluctuations $\sigma_{\rm I}^2 = \pi {\rm Bz}^3/3^{[59]}$ (see Chap. 10). This is natural, since the amplitude fluctuations are connected with the changes in the cross section of the ray tube, i.e., with the relative displacements of the rays. An approach to the waveintensity fluctuations, based on this fact, was considered in $[^{[60,96]}]$.

Expression (7.10) can be used only if the meansquared distance between rays is small in comparison with l_0^2 . In this case the equations for the moments form a closed system that can be easily solved^[21]. From the solution of this system it follows that if there exists an interval of values of z such that $\alpha z \gg 1$ ($\alpha = (16\pi B)^{1/2}$), but still $l_0^2 \gg \rho_0^2 \exp(\alpha z)$ (it always exists for sufficiently small ρ_0^2), then exponential growth of $\langle \rho^2 \rangle$, $\langle \rho \cdot 1 \rangle$, and $\langle l^2 \rangle$ occurs in this region. We note that the start of the exponential-growth region, determined by the condition $\alpha z \sim 1$, coincides with the start of the region of strong intensity fluctuations, since $\alpha z \sim \sigma_1^{2/3} = \langle [\ln (I/I_0)]^2 \rangle^{1/3}$.

We now stop to discuss the conditions for the applicability of the EFE. As already noted, the EFE for ray diffusion can be justified only in the small-angle approximation¹⁰. This, in accordance with (7.6), leads to the condition

$$\langle \tau_{\perp}^{\mathfrak{s}} \rangle \ll 1$$
 or $Dz \sim \sigma_{\mu}^{\mathfrak{s}} z/l_{\mathfrak{o}} \ll 1.$ (7.11)

This limitation imposes a very weak condition on the transverse ray displacement $\langle \mathbf{R}_{\perp}^{2}(\mathbf{z}) \rangle \ll \mathbf{z}^{2}$. As to the corrections connected with the finite character of the longitudinal correlation radius, the requirement that they be small leads to the condition $\mathbf{z} \gg l_{0}$ and again to (7.11).

If the inequality (7.11) is not satisfied, the smallangle approximation no longer holds, and with further distribution of the rays the probability distribution law tends to an isotropic law that is the analog of the Boltzmann distribution in statistical mechanics^[61].

With this example we complete the analysis of physical processes based on a system of ordinary differential equations, and proceed to their infinite-dimensional generalization.

V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii

8. EQUILIBRIUM HYDRODYNAMIC FLUCTUATIONS IN AN IDEAL GAS

As noted in the third part of the paper, a general correlation theory of hydrodynamic fluctuations was constructed in a paper by Landau and Lifshitz^[30] by introducing "extraneous" random terms in the hydrodynamic equation, namely the "extraneous" stress tensor s_{ik} in the Navier-Stokes equation and the vector of "extraneous" thermal flux g in the heat transfer equation. We shall not stop to derive these stochastic equations (they can be obtained by different methods on the basis of either the Boltzmann equations^[62-65] or the Klimontovich kinetic equation^[66], but, following^[67], consider the solution of this statistical problem for an ideal gas.

a) Formulation of the problem. Assume that at t < 0 the hydrodynamic system was in a state of thermodynamic equilibrium, $\mathbf{v} = 0$, $\rho = \rho_0$, $p = p_0$, $T = T_0$, and $S = S_0$ (the notation is the same as in the book^[57]). At the instant of time t = 0 the molecular noise characterized by the random fields s_{ik} and \mathbf{g} is turned on. Then the equilibrium hydrodynamic fluctuations in an ideal gas are described in the absence of dispersion by a system of equations linearized with respect to the equilibrium states:

$$\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial t} + c_0^2 \frac{\partial P}{\partial x_i} - v \Delta v_i - \left(\eta + \frac{v}{3}\right) \frac{\partial^2 v_k}{\partial x_i \partial x_k} = \frac{1}{\rho_0} \frac{\partial s_{ik}}{\partial x_k}, \quad \frac{\partial R}{\partial t} + \nabla v = 0,$$
(8.1)
$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} + \nabla v - \lambda \gamma \Delta P + \lambda \Delta R = -\frac{1}{\rho_0 T_0 c_p} \nabla g, \quad \frac{T}{T_0} = \gamma P - R, \quad S = c_p (P - R);$$

here $P = p/\gamma p_0$, $R = \rho/\rho_0$, $c_0^2 = \gamma p_0/\rho_0$ is the square of the speed of sound; $\gamma = c_p/c_v$; ν and η are the first- and second-viscosity kinematic coefficients; λ is the coefficient of diffusivity, and the "extraneous" fields are Gaussian random fields with correlation relations

$$\langle s_{ik} (\mathbf{r}_{1}, t_{1}) s_{lm} (\mathbf{r}_{2}, t_{2}) \rangle$$

$$= 2kT_{0}\rho_{0} \left[\mathbf{v} \left(\delta_{ll} \delta_{km} + \delta_{lm} \delta_{hl} \right) + \left(\eta - \frac{2}{3} \mathbf{v} \right) \delta_{ik} \delta_{lm} \right] \delta \left(\mathbf{r}_{1} - \mathbf{r}_{2} \right) \delta \left(t_{1} - t_{2} \right),$$

$$\langle s_{ik} (\mathbf{r}_{1}, t_{1}) g_{l} (\mathbf{r}_{2}, t_{2}) \rangle = 0, \quad \langle g_{i} (\mathbf{r}_{i}, t_{1}) g_{k} (\mathbf{r}_{2}, t_{2}) \rangle$$

$$= 2kT_{0}^{2}\rho_{0}c_{p}\lambda\delta_{lk} \delta \left(\mathbf{r}_{1} - \mathbf{r}_{2} \right) \delta \left(t_{1} - t_{2} \right).$$

$$(8.2)$$

The problem consists of finding the stationary statistical characteristics of the solution of the system (8.1).

We note that this problem is an infinite-dimensional generalization of the Langevin equation, and the corresponding diffusion tensor, determined by formulas (8.2), is a corresponding generalization of the Einstein formulas (3.6) and (3.20).

The system (8.1) without right-hand sides (sources) was investigated by many workers (see, e.g., [50]), who have shown that all the motions of the medium break up into three types that do not interact with one another: vortical, acoustical, and entropy waves. The interaction between them are described by nonlinear terms of the hydrodynamic equations. This circumstance holds also for the system (8.1), which describes generation of waves of the indicated type by the thermal motion of the molecules.

In the case when there are no sources, it is easy to obtain a solution of (8.1), Introducing the Fourier transforms for the hydrodynamic fields

$$\varphi(\mathbf{r}, t) = \int d\mathbf{q} \, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}(\mathbf{q}, t) \exp(i\mathbf{q}\mathbf{r}) \quad (\varphi = \{P, R, D = \nabla \mathbf{v}\})$$

and using the smallness of the parameter $\delta = \nu q/c_0 \sim l/\Lambda \ll 1$, where *l* is the mean free path in the gas and $\Lambda = 2\pi/q$ is the perturbation wavelength ($\nu \sim \eta \sim \lambda$ and

 $\delta \ll 1$ are the conditions for the applicability of the hydrodynamic description of the medium), we obtain for $\widetilde{\varphi}$ (q, t)

$$\widetilde{\varphi}(\mathbf{q}, t) = C_{1}^{\widetilde{\Psi}} \exp\left(-\lambda q^{2}t\right) + C_{2}^{\widetilde{\Psi}} \exp\left[ic_{0}qt - (zq^{2}/2)t^{2}\right] + C_{3}^{\widetilde{\Psi}} \exp\left[-ic_{0}qt - (zq^{2}/2)t\right],$$
(8.3)

where $z = \eta + (4\nu/3) + \lambda(\gamma - 1)$ determines the damping of the acoustic waves.

b) Spatial correlations of hydrodynamic fields. We note first that by virtue of the linearity of the system (8.1), all the hydrodynamic fields will be Gaussian random fields, the statistical properties of which are described completely by their space-time correlation tensors. In view of the spatial homogeneity of the "sources," the hydrodynamic fields are also homogeneous random fields. We note also that since the system (8.1) is of first order in the time, the condition that the "sources" be δ -correlated in t is evidence that the process of generation of hydrodynamic fluctuations is a diffusive random process.

We consider equal-time correlations of the hydrodynamic fields

$$B_{\varphi,\psi}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \langle \varphi(\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}, t) \psi(\mathbf{r}_1, t) \rangle, \text{ where } \{\varphi, \psi\} = \{D, R, P\}.$$

In the derivation of the dynamic equations for B_{φ}, ψ there appear terms due to the correlations of the "sources" $s_{ik}(t)$ and g(t) with the fields φ , taken at the same instant of time. The Furutsu-Novikov formula (29) makes it possible to calculate such correlations. Using at the same time the expressions for the values of the variational derivatives of the hydrodynamic fields with respect to the sources, taken at the same instant of time

$$\frac{\delta D\left(\mathbf{r},\ t\right)}{\delta s_{ik}\left(\mathbf{r}',\ t\right)} = \frac{1}{\rho_0} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial r_i \,\partial r_k} \,\delta\left(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'\right), \frac{\delta P\left(\mathbf{r},\ t\right)}{\delta g_i\left(\mathbf{r}',\ t\right)} = -\frac{1}{\rho_0 T_0 c_p} \frac{\partial}{\partial r_i} \delta\left(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'\right), \\ \frac{\delta D}{\delta g_i} = \frac{\delta R}{\delta g_{ik}} = \frac{\delta R}{\delta g_i} = \frac{\delta P}{\delta s_{ik}} = 0,$$
(8.4)

which are the consequence of the dynamic system (8.1), we obtain a closed system of equations for the equaltime correlations. The stationary solution for the spatial spectral functions

is

$$B_{\varphi,\psi}(\mathbf{q}, t) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int d\mathbf{r} B_{\varphi,\psi}(\mathbf{r}, t) \exp\left(-i\mathbf{q}\mathbf{r}\right)$$

$$B_{TR} = B_{RD} = B_{PD} = 0, \quad B_{DD} = \frac{kT_0}{\rho_0(2\pi)^3} q^2, \quad B_{PP} = B_{RP} = \frac{kT_0}{\rho_0(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{c_0^2}, \\ B_{RR} = \frac{kT_0}{\rho_0(2\pi)^3} \frac{\gamma}{c_0^2}, \quad B_{TT} = \frac{kT_0}{\rho_0c_v(2\pi)^3}, \quad B_{SS} = \frac{kc_p}{\rho_0(2\pi)^3}. \tag{8.5}$$

All these formulas, of course, agree with the results of the theory of the thermodynamic fluctuations in an ideal $gas^{[68]}$.

It is possible to obtain analogously the stationary solution for the spectral function of the vortical part of the velocity and an expression for the stationary spectral tensor of the velocity field, the form of which is

$$B_{ij}(\mathbf{q}) = [kT_0/\rho_0 \ (2\pi)^3] \ \delta_{ij}. \tag{8.6}$$

Formulas (8.5) and (8.6) make it possible to determine the characteristic scale of the fluctuations, up to which the macroscopic turbulence theory is applicable. This scale is determined by the intersection of the corresponding macroscopic spectral functions with the functions described by the formulas given above. The corresponding estimates for turbulence in an incompressible liquid are given $in^{[67, 69]}$.

c) Space-time correlations of hydrodynamic fields.

We proceed now to find the space-time correlations. We consider the quantities $B_{\varphi, \psi'}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t}, \mathbf{t}') = \langle \varphi(\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t}) \psi(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{t}') \rangle \ (\varphi, \psi = \{D, P, R\})$. The equa-

= $\langle \varphi(\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}, t) \psi(\mathbf{r}_1, t') \rangle$ ($\varphi, \psi = \{D, P, R\}$). The equations for these quantities can be obtained by starting from the general system of equations (8.1). It is easy to see here that the time dependence of these quantities is determined only by the dynamic equations for the acoustic and entropy waves, and does not depend on the "sources." In fact, let us consider, for example, the equation for $B_{DD'}$. Let t > t'. We then obtain for $B_{DD'}$ the equation

$$\partial B_{DD'}/\partial t + c_0^2 \Delta B_{PD'} - [\eta + (4\nu/3)] \Delta B_{DD'} = 0, \qquad (8.7)$$

since $\langle s_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{r}_1, t) D(\mathbf{r}_2, t') \rangle = 0$ at t > t' by virtue of the fact that $s_{\alpha\beta}$ is δ -correlated with respect to t. The initial condition for (8.7) is the condition $B_{DD'}(t) = t'$

 $= B_{D', D'}$. It is clear that a similar picture holds also in the case of t < t' and for arbitrary other correlations of the hydrodynamic fields.

The time dependence of the spectral (spatial) functions of the hydrodynamic fields will therefore be determined by expressions of the type (8.3), with t replaced by t - t' or t' - t, depending on the ratio of the times t and t'. The corresponding constants are determined with the aid of the boundary conditions at coinciding values of the times. Thus, for example, for a stationary spectral function $B_{DD'}(q, \tau)$, where $\tau = t - t'$, we obtain the expression

$$B_{DD'}(q, \tau) = B_{DD}(q) \exp \left[-(zq^2/2) |\tau|\right] \cos c_0 q\tau, \qquad (8.8)$$

where $B_{DD}(q)$ is described by formula (8.5).

We note in conclusion that the method described above for solving the problem of equilibrium hydrodynamic fluctuations in an ideal gas can be easily generalized to more complicated cases, such as a nonideal gas, the presence of temporal dispersion and dissipative coefficients, the presence of spatial boundaries and corresponding boundary conditions, etc.

9. RANDOM FORCES IN HYDRODYNAMIC THEORY OF TURBULENCE

We consider now a model of turbulent motion, wherein the liquid is in the field of external forces $f(\mathbf{x}, t)$, which we shall regard as Gaussian homogeneous and stationary random forces with zero mean value. Such a model, of course, is fictitious, since the forces \mathbf{f} have no real analogs. However, if it is assumed that the forces \mathbf{f} ensure a noticeable average influx of energy only to the large-scale components of the velocity, then one can expect, as a result of the premises of the theory of locally isotropic turbulence, that the fictitious character of the field \mathbf{f} does not affect the statistical properties of the small-scale components of the turbulence [⁵⁰]. Therefore the small-scale properties of the turbulence can be correctly described on the basis of such a model.

The motion induced in an incompressible liquid by external forces is described by the Navier-Stokes equation

$$\frac{\partial u_i}{\partial t} + u_k \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_k} = -\frac{1}{\rho_0} \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_i} + v\Delta u_i + f_i(\mathbf{x}, t),$$

div $\mathbf{u} = 0$ (div $\mathbf{f} = 0$).

Here ρ_0 is the density of the liquid, and the pressure p is expressed in terms of the velocity field at the same instant of time with the aid of the relation

$$p(\mathbf{x}, t) = -\rho_0 \Delta^{-1}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}') \cdot \partial^2 \left[u_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x}', t) u_{\beta}(\mathbf{x}', t) \right] / \partial x_{\alpha} \partial x_{\beta}, \quad (9.2)$$

where Δ^{-1} is an integral operator, the inverse of the

506 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

Laplace operator, and summation over repeated indices is implied.

The Fourier transform of the velocity (with respect to the spatial coordinates)

$$u_{t}(\mathbf{k}, t) = \int d\mathbf{x} u_{i}(\mathbf{x}, t) \exp(-i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{x}),$$

in the presence of an external-force field, after eliminating the pressure with the aid of formula (9.2), satisfies the equation

$$\frac{\partial u_i(\mathbf{k}, t)}{\partial t} = \frac{i}{2} \int d\mathbf{k}_1 d\mathbf{k}_2 \Lambda_{i, \alpha\beta}(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2; \mathbf{k}) u_\alpha(\mathbf{k}_1, t) u_\beta(\mathbf{k}_2, t)$$
(9.3)

$$-vk^2 u_i(\mathbf{k}, t) + f_i(\mathbf{k}, t) (u_i^*(\mathbf{k}) = u_i(-\mathbf{k})),$$

where

$$\begin{array}{l} \Delta_{i.\,\alpha.\,\beta}\left(\mathbf{k}_{1},\,\,\mathbf{k}_{2};\,\,\mathbf{k}\right)=(2\pi)^{-3}\left\{k_{\alpha}\Delta_{i\beta}\left(\mathbf{k}\right)+k_{\beta}\Delta_{i\alpha}\left(\mathbf{k}\right)\right\}\delta\left(\mathbf{k}_{1}+\mathbf{k}_{2}-\mathbf{k}\right),\\ \Delta_{ij}\left(\mathbf{k}\right)=\delta_{ij}-(k_{i}k_{j}/k^{2})\quad (i,\,\,\alpha,\,\,\beta=1,\,\,2,\,\,3), \end{array}$$

and $f_i(\mathbf{k}, t)$ is the Fourier transform of the external forces $(\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{k}, t) = 0)$.

Since the field of the external forces $f_i({\bf k},\,t)$ is Gaussian, homogeneous, and stationary, the different statistical characteristics of the velocity field are determined by the quantity

$$\langle f_i (\mathbf{k}_1, t + \tau) f_j (\mathbf{k}_2, t) \rangle = (1/2) \, \delta (\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2) \, F_{ij} (\mathbf{k}_1, \tau).$$
 (9.4)

Following^[16], we assume $\mathbf{F}_{ij}(\mathbf{k}, \tau) = \mathbf{F}_{ij}(\mathbf{k})\delta(\tau)$. Since (9.3) is an equation of first order in the time, the excitation of the turbulence in this model is a diffusive random process, since the forces are δ -correlated with respect to t.

The most compact complete description of the spatial statistical characteristics of the field u(k, t) consists of specifying its characteristic functional

$$\Phi_t [\mathbf{z} (\mathbf{k})] = \langle \exp \{i \int d\mathbf{k} \, z_\alpha (\mathbf{k}) \, u_\alpha (\mathbf{k}, \, t) \} \rangle, \qquad (9.5)$$

with the limitation $z_{\alpha}^{*}(\mathbf{k}) = z_{\alpha}(-\mathbf{k})$ imposed on $z_{\alpha}(\mathbf{k})$.

An equation for this functional can be obtained by differentiating (9.5) with respect to t. Using in this case Eq. (9.3), formula (2.2), and the relation

$$\delta u_i (\mathbf{k}, t) / \delta f_j (\mathbf{k}', t) = \delta_{ij} \delta (\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}'), \qquad (9.6)$$

which is the consequence of (9.3), we can write down an equation for Φ_t in the form^[16]

$$\frac{\partial \Phi_{t}}{\partial t} = \int d\mathbf{k} z_{i} (\mathbf{k}) \left[-\frac{1}{2} \int d\mathbf{k}_{1} d\mathbf{k}_{2} \Lambda_{i, \alpha\beta} (\mathbf{k}_{1}, \mathbf{k}_{2}; \mathbf{k}) \frac{\delta^{2} \Phi_{t}}{\delta z_{\alpha} (\mathbf{k}_{1}) \delta z_{\beta} (\mathbf{k}_{2})} - \nu k^{2} \frac{\delta \Phi_{t}}{\delta z_{\gamma} (\mathbf{k})} - \frac{1}{4} F_{ij} (\mathbf{k}) z_{j} (-\mathbf{k}) \Phi_{t} \right].$$
(9.7)

An equation for Φ_t in the absence of external forces was obtained in ^[70].

Equation (9.7) plays the role of the EFE for the considered problem. It differs from the usual equation of this type in that it is written down for the characteristic functional and not for the probability density which is Fourier-conjugate with this functional. Therefore Eq. (9.7) itself is a functional Fourier transform of the EFE.¹¹⁾ Another difference is that (9.7) corresponds to the diffusion equation in infinite-dimensional space, and is therefore an equation with variational derivatives. The role of the diffusion coefficient, which differs for different wave components of the velocity field, is played by the spectral tensor of the forces $F_{ij}(\mathbf{k})$.

We note that allowance for the finite character of the temporal correlation radius of the field of the external forces leads to a system of two functional equations $[\pi^2]$, from which it is possible to determine in principle the

conditions for the applicability of Eq. (9.7), i.e., the diffusion approximation for the considered problem.

10. PROPAGATION OF LIGHT IN A RANDOMLY-INHOMOGENEOUS MEDIUM

When electromagnetic waves propagate in a medium with random large-scale inhomogeneities (compared to the wavelength), multiple forward scattering causes the fluctuations of the wave field to increase rapidly with increasing distance. Starting with a certain distance, calculations by perturbation theory in one form or another are no longer suitable. This effect was observed experimentally by Gracheva and Gurvich in experiments on the propagation of light in the turbulent atmosphere^[73], and was subsequently investigated in greater detail in^[74-76].

The general status of the theory of light propagation in randomly-inhomogeneous media is described in the review papers^[77,78]. Following^[78], we consider henceforth the description of the propagation of light in a randomly-inhomogeneous medium in the diffusive random process approximation.

a) Diffusive approximation. The propagation of monochromatic light in a medium with large-scale in-homogeneities, when the depolarization is small, can be described with sufficient accuracy by a scalar wave equation [59]

$$\Delta \psi + k^2 \left[\mathbf{1} + \tilde{\varepsilon} (\mathbf{r}) \right] \psi = 0; \qquad (10.1)$$

where ψ is connected with the component of the electric field E by the relation $\mathbf{E} = \psi \exp(-i\omega t)$, $\mathbf{k}^2 = (\omega^2/c^2) \langle \epsilon \rangle$ where $\tilde{\epsilon}(\mathbf{r}) = [\epsilon(\mathbf{r}) - \langle \epsilon \rangle]/\langle \epsilon \rangle$ is the fluctuating part of the dielectric constant. If we neglect large-angle scattering, then we can use in place of (10.1) a parabolic equation for the function u, which is connected with ψ by the relation

$$\psi = u \exp(ikx),$$

$$2ik \, \partial u/\partial x + \Delta_{\perp} u + k^2 \tilde{e} (x, \rho) u (x, \rho) = 0,$$

$$\rho = \{x, y\}, \quad \Delta_{\perp} = \partial^2/\partial y^2 + \partial^2/\partial z^2,$$
(10.2)

where the x axis is chosen in the direction of the initial propagation of the wave.

On going from (10.1) to (10.2), we discard the term $\partial^2 u/\partial x^2.$

u (0,

The initial condition for (10.2) is

$$(\rho) = u_0(\rho).$$
 (10.3)

We assume the field $\tilde{\epsilon}(\mathbf{x}, \boldsymbol{\rho})$ to be a Gaussian homogeneous random field with a correlation function $B_{\epsilon}(\mathbf{x}, \boldsymbol{\rho}) = \langle \tilde{\epsilon}(\mathbf{x}_1 + \mathbf{x}, \boldsymbol{\rho}_1 + \boldsymbol{\rho}) \tilde{\epsilon}(\mathbf{x}_1, \boldsymbol{\rho}_1)$.

We note that the light-wave propagation process described by (10.2) with initial condition (10.3) is a generalization, to include the infinite-dimensional case, of the equation considered in Chap. 5 and describing parametric resonance in vibrational systems with random parameters.

Since Eq. (10.2) is of first order in x with an initial condition at x = 0, we can use the diffusive random process approximation (the role of the time t is played by the longitudinal coordinate x). As indicated in Chap. 2, in this approximation the correlation function of the field $\tilde{\epsilon}$ is replaced by the effective function

$$B_{\varepsilon}^{\text{eff}}(x, \rho) = \delta(x) A(\rho), \quad A(\rho) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx B_{\varepsilon}(x, \rho). \quad (10.4)$$

A complete statistical description of the field $u(x, \rho)$ in the plane x = const is contained in its characteristic functional

$$\Psi_{x}[v, v^{*}] = \langle \exp\{i \int d\rho [u(x, \rho) v(\rho) + u^{*}(x, \rho) v^{*}(\rho)] \} \rangle, \quad (10.5)$$

where asterisks denote complex conjugate quantities.

Differentiating (10.5) with respect to x, using the dynamic equation (10.2), the Furutsu-Novikov formula (2.9), and the relation

$$\delta u (x, \rho) / \delta \tilde{\varepsilon} (x, \rho') = i (k/2) \delta (\rho - \rho') u (x, \rho), \qquad (10.6)$$

we obtain a dynamic equation for $\Psi_{\mathbf{X}}^{[79]}$

$$\frac{\partial \Psi_{x}}{\partial x} = \frac{i}{2k} \int d\rho \left[v(\rho) \Delta_{\perp} \frac{\delta \Psi_{x}}{\delta v(\rho)} - v^{\bullet}(\rho) \Delta_{\perp} \frac{\delta \Psi_{x}}{\delta v^{\bullet}(\rho)} \right]$$
(10.7)
$$- \frac{k^{2}}{8} \int d\rho \, d\rho' \, A(\rho - \rho') \, \hat{M}(\rho) \, \hat{M}(\rho') \, \Psi_{x},$$

where the Hermitian operator is given by

$$\hat{\mathcal{M}}(\boldsymbol{\rho}) = \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{\rho}) \frac{\delta}{\delta \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{\rho})} - \boldsymbol{v}^*(\boldsymbol{\rho}) \frac{\delta}{\delta \boldsymbol{v}^*(\boldsymbol{\rho})}.$$

Equation (10.7) plays the role of the EFE for the considered problem (with a variable-quadratic-diffusion coefficient).

From (10.7) we can obtain, by variational differentiation, equations in closed form for the moments of the field u in the plane x = const:

$$M_{n,m}(x; \{\rho_i\}, \{\rho_j\}) = \langle u(x, \rho_1) \dots u(x, \rho_n) u^*(x, \rho'_1) \dots u^*(x, \rho'_m) \rangle,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} M_{n,m}$$
(10.8)

$$=\frac{i}{2k}[\Delta_1+\ldots+\Delta_n-\Delta'_1-\ldots-\Delta'_m]M_{n.m}-\frac{k^2}{8}Q(\rho_1,\ldots,\rho'_m)M_{n.m},$$

where

$$Q_{n,m} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} A(\rho_{i} - \rho_{j}) - 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{m} A(\rho_{i} - \rho_{k}) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} A(\rho_{k} - \rho_{i}).$$
(10.9)

Equations (10.8) were obtained by different procedures $in^{[80,81]}$, and various particular cases of these equations were obtained $in^{[82-84]}$.

We note that the diffusive approximation can be developed also in the case of non-Gaussian fluctuations of the field $\tilde{\epsilon}$. In this case the moments of the field u in the plane x = const also satisfy closed-form equations which, however, are integro-differential equations and generally speaking cannot be reduced to differential equations $[^{80}]$.

We write down in explicit form equations for the average field $\langle u \rangle$ and for the second-order coherence function $\Gamma_2(x, \mathbf{R}, \rho) = \langle u(x, \mathbf{R} + (1/2)\rho) \times u^*(x, \mathbf{R} - (1/2)\rho) \rangle$, which follows from (10.8) at n = 1, m = 0 and n = 1, m = 1;

$$\partial \langle u \rangle / \partial x = (i/2k) \Delta_{\perp} \langle u \rangle - (k^2/8) A (0) \langle u \rangle, \quad \langle u (0, \rho) \rangle = u_0(\rho),$$
(10.10)

$$\partial \Gamma_2 / \partial x = (i/k) \ \partial^2 \Gamma_2 / \partial \mathbf{R} \ \partial \rho - (k^2/4) \ D \ (\rho) \Gamma_2, \ D \ (\rho) = A \ (0) - A \ (\rho),$$

$$\Gamma_2 \ (0, \ \mathbf{R}, \ \rho) = u_0 \ (\mathbf{R} + (1/2) \ \rho) \ u_0^* \ (\mathbf{R} - (1/2) \ \rho). \tag{10.11}$$

Equation (10.11) is equivalent to the so-called smallangle approximation of the radiation transport equation^[82], and describes the average distribution of the intensity inside a random medium. The equation for $\Gamma_4 = M_{2,2}$ describes already intensity fluctuations.

In addition for the equations for the average values of the product of the fields $u(x, \rho_1) \dots u^*(x, \rho'_m)$, where all the longitudinal coordinates are the same, we can obtain equations also for the functions $\langle u(x_1, \rho_1) \dots u^*(x'_m, \rho'_m) \rangle$ at unequal values of x.^[85] The initial conditions for these equations contain the functions $M_{n,m}$ at coinciding values of the longitudinal arguments.

507 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

Equations (10.10) and (10.11) can be solved in general form:

$$\langle u(x, \rho) \rangle = u_0(x, \rho) \exp(-\gamma x/2),$$
 (10.12)

where $u_0(x, \rho)$ is the solution in the case of the absence of fluctuations, $\gamma = k^2 A(0)/4$ is the extinction coefficient;

$$\Gamma_{2}(x, \mathbf{R}, \boldsymbol{\rho}) = \frac{k^{2}}{4\pi^{2}x^{2}} \int d\mathbf{R}' \, d\boldsymbol{\rho}' \Gamma_{2}(0, \mathbf{R} - \mathbf{R}', \boldsymbol{\rho} - \boldsymbol{\rho}') \tag{10.13}$$
$$\times \exp\left[\frac{ik\boldsymbol{\rho}'\mathbf{R}'}{x} - \frac{k^{2}}{4}\int_{0}^{x} d\boldsymbol{\xi} D\left(\boldsymbol{\rho} - \boldsymbol{\rho}' \frac{\boldsymbol{\xi}}{x}\right)\right],$$

where $\Gamma_2(0, \mathbf{R}, \boldsymbol{\rho})$ is the initial value of the coherence function at x = 0. For the particular case of a plane incident wave, when $u_0(\rho) \equiv u_0$, we have

$$\langle u \rangle = u_0 \exp(-\gamma x/2), \ \Gamma_2(x, \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{\rho}) = |u_0|^2 \exp(-k^2 D(\mathbf{\rho}) x/4).$$

(10.14)

If we consider the fluctuations of $\tilde{\epsilon}$ (the dielectric constant) due to turbulent fluctuations of the temperature, then the three-dimensional spectral density $\Phi_{\epsilon}(\kappa)$ has, in a considerable wave-number interval, the form $\Phi_{\epsilon}(\kappa) = AC_{\epsilon}^{2}\kappa^{-11/3}$ ($\kappa_{\min} \ll \kappa \ll \kappa_{\max}$), where A = 0.033 is a numerical constant and C_{ϵ}^{2} is a structural characteristic of the fluctuations of $\tilde{\epsilon}$ and depends on the external parameters of the flux [^{59]}. In this case we can calculate both the function $\Gamma_{2}(x, \mathbf{R}, \rho)$ and the average wave intensity $\langle I(x, \mathbf{R}) \rangle = \Gamma_{2}(x, \mathbf{R}, 0)$. Figures 8 and 9 show the spatial spectrum of the coherence function and the average intensity of the wave, respectively, obtained in [^{86, 87]}. The same figures show the theoretical plots based on (10.13).

As regards the equation for Γ_4 and the equations describing higher moments of the wave intensity, it is impossible to solve them analytically. Results of a numerical solution of the equation for Γ_4 are presented in $[^{88}]$ for a correlation function of $\tilde{\epsilon}$ in the form of a Gaussian curve. The saturation of the intensity fluctuations obtained in that reference agrees qualitatively with the results of $[^{73-76}]$.

We note that the solution of (10.2) with initial condition (10.3) can be written, using a method proposed by Fradkin^[89-91] in quantum field theory, in operator form or else in the form of a Feynman continual integral^[82]. This form of the solution, using the assumption that $\tilde{\epsilon}$ has a Gaussian distribution and is δ -correlated in the longitudinal coordinate, enables us to calculate $\langle u \rangle$ and Γ_2 . In the same cases it is possible to solve also Eq. (10.8). In those cases when it is impossible to obtain the solution of Eqs. (10.8), the representation of the solution in the form of a continual integral also does not make it possible to find an explicit expression for $M_{n,m}$. It is more convenient, however, for the investigation of the asymptotic behavior of the moments of the wave intensity.

b) Successive-approximation method and conditions for the applicability of the diffusive approximation. We now dwell on the conditions for the applicability of the diffusive approximation. We construct a successiveapproximation theory that refines the functional dependence of the statistical characteristics of the wave on the field $\tilde{\epsilon}$.^[49] The diffusive approximation is the first step in this theory; the next approximations take into account the finite character of the longitudinal correlation radius of the field $\tilde{\epsilon}$ and lead to a system of closed integro-differential equations for the moments. The successive-approximation method is constructed in the following manner: First one writes down an infinite



FIG. 8. Spatial spectrum of the coherence function. Solid curvetheoretical plots based on (10.13), symbols-experimental data obtained in [⁸⁷] (where the symbols are explained).

FIG. 9. Effective width of the average intensity distribution of a light beam in a turbulent medium (the solid curve corresponds to the theoretical relation, and the symbols represent the experimental data of $[^{86}]$).



coupled system of equations for some moment, using the assumption that $\tilde{\epsilon}$ has a Gaussian distribution and using the Furutsu-Novikov formula, but without using the δ -correlation assumption. Each of these equations contains the correlation function $B_{\epsilon}(x, \rho)$. If we use the δ -correlation assumption (10.4) in the first of these equations, then we obtain the above-described diffusive approximation, and the remaining equations of the system become unnecessary. On the other hand, if we retain in the first n-1 equations the exact value of $B_{c}(x, \rho)$ and use in the n-th equation the approximation (10.4), then we arrive at a closed system of n equations for the moment of interest to us. We shall not dwell in greater detail on this method (it is illustrated in part in the parametric-resonance problem). We note only that the second approximation is already much more exact than the diffusive approximation and describes correctly the behavior of the moments both for $x \gg l$ and for $\mathbf{x} \ll l$ (l is the longitudinal correlation radius of the field $\tilde{\epsilon}$), and makes it possible to establish the conditions for the applicability of the first (diffusive) approximation. In the general case it is quite difficult to demonstrate this, but this question can be investigated with the aid of an example that admits of an exact solution. By way of example we consider an equation that differs from (10.2) in the absence of the term $\Delta_{\perp} u$:

 $du/dx = i (k/2) \tilde{\epsilon} (x) u (x), u (0) = u_0, B_{\epsilon} (x) = \langle \tilde{\epsilon} (x_1 + x) \tilde{\epsilon} (x_1) \rangle.$

The exact solution for \overline{u} is

$$\overline{u}(x) = u_0 \exp\left[-(k^2/4)\int_0^x d\xi(x-\xi) B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)\right].$$

The solution of the problem in the first (diffusive) approximation is

$$\overline{u}_{1}(x) = u_{0} \exp\left[-(k^{2}x/4)\int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi B_{\varepsilon}(\xi)\right].$$

Solving the system of second-approximation equations we can reduce the problem to the following integrodifferential equation:

$$d\overline{u_2}/dx = -(k^2/4)\int_0^x d\xi \overline{u_2}(\xi) B_{\varepsilon}(x-\xi) \exp\left[-(k^2/4)(x-\xi)\int_0^\infty d\eta B_{\varepsilon}(\eta)\right],$$

which can be easily solved by means of a Laplace transformation. If, for example, $B_{\epsilon}(\xi) = \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 \exp(-\alpha |\xi|)$, then the exact solution and the first and second approximation are given respectively by

$$\tilde{u}(x) = u_0 \exp \{-\mu [\tau - 1 + e^{-\tau}]\},$$
 (10.15)

$$\bar{u}_1(x) = u_0 \exp(-\mu \tau),$$
 (10.16)

$$\vec{u}_2(x) = [u_0/(1-\mu)] [\exp(-\mu\tau) - \mu \exp(-\tau)],$$
 (10.17)

where $\tau = \alpha x$, $\mu = k^2 \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 / 4 \alpha^2 = k^2 l^2 \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 / 4$, and $l = 1/\alpha$ is the correlation radius of ϵ . Comparing (10.15), (10.16), and (10.17) at $\tau \gg 1$, we easily establish that the approximate solutions (10.16) and (10.17) can serve as a good approximation of the exact solution only at $\mu \ll 1$. In addition, the function (10.15), unlike (10.16), has at zero the same form as the exact solution. Figure 10 shows the functions (10.15)-(10.17) at $\mu = 0.2$. The difference between the second approximation and the exact solution does not exceed 2.5% in this case. We note also that the conditions for the applicability of the first approximation, namely $\mu \ll 1$ and $\tau \gg 1$, can be obtained not only by comparing u_1 with u_1 , but also by comparing u_1 with u_2 .

Although the considered example cannot serve as proof of convergence of the developed method of successive approximation, it does give grounds for hoping that this proof will be obtained in the future.

The second-approximation equations can be solved for $\langle u \rangle$ and Γ_2 . A comparison of the first and second approximations makes it possible to find the conditions for the applicability of the diffusive approximation. It turns out here that the applicability conditions for $\langle u \rangle$ are

$$\gamma l \ll 1, \quad x \gg l, \quad kl \gg 1, \tag{10.18}$$

where $\gamma = k^2 A(0)/4$ is the extinction coefficient and l is the correlation radius of the field $\tilde{\epsilon}$. At the same time, the conditions for applicability of the diffusive approximation for $\Gamma_2(x, \mathbf{R}, \rho)$ are

$$\rho \ll x, \quad kx \mid \nabla_{\perp} A \ (\rho) \mid \ll 1. \tag{10.19}$$

It is important to emphasize that conditions (10.18) and (10.19) are practically independent, since they impose limitations on different parameters. In particular, it may turn out that the conditions (10.19) are satisfied in the case when the condition $\gamma l \ll 1$ is violated.

As to the conditions for the applicability of the parabolic equation (10.2) itself, they can be obtained either by comparing the solutions (10.1) and (10.2), expressed



in operator form [92], or by taking the term $\partial^2 u / \partial x^2$ in (10.1) into account by perturbation theory. It turns out here that the conditions for the applicability of the parabolic equation are satisfied in the entire region of applicability of the diffusive approximation.

c) Amplitude-phase fluctuations. We now stop to discuss amplitude-phase fluctuations of a wave.

The equation describing the amplitude-phase fluctuations can be obtained from (10.2) by introducing a new sought function $\varphi = \ln u = \chi + iS$ ($\chi = \ln A/A_0$):

$$2ik \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x} + \Delta_{\perp} \varphi + (\nabla_{\perp} \varphi)^{2} + k^{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}(x, \rho) = 0.$$
 (10.20)

The exact solutions (10.2) and (10.20) are equivalent. The statistical properties of the solution (10.20) can also be described in the diffusive approximation. However, by virtue of the nonlinearity, the equations for the moments of the function φ are not closed.

In the first approximation of Rytov's continuous perturbation method (CPM) one omits from (10.20) the term $(\nabla_{\perp}\varphi)^2$. The solution in this case is a Gaussian random field and the statistical properties of the amplitude fluctuations are described by the parameter $\sigma_0^2 = \langle \chi^2(\mathbf{x}) \rangle_{\circ}^{[59]}$. It turns out here that the condition for the applicability of the first CPM approximation is $\sigma_0^2 \ll 1$. In the region $\sigma_0^2 \gtrsim 1$ (which is called the region of strong fluctuations), it is necessary to study the complete equation.

We note that the diffusive approximation for Eq. (10.2) imposes no limitations on the amplitude fluctuations, and consequently the equations for the moments of the field u (10.8) are valid also in the region of strong amplitude fluctuations.

If the geometrical-optics approximation is valid $(x/k l^2 \ll 1)$, then the equation for the phase of the wave can be split off, and both the field $\chi(x, \rho)$ itself, and its statistical characteristics are determined by the functional dependences of the phase of the wave on $\tilde{\epsilon}$. The statistical characteristics χ and S are determined by the statistical properties of the rays, described by the stochastic equation^[93]

$$d^{2}\mathbf{R}(x')/dx'^{2} = (1/2) \nabla_{\perp} \tilde{\epsilon}(x', \mathbf{R}(x'))$$
 (10.21)

with boundary conditions $\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{x}) = \boldsymbol{\rho}$, $d\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{x}')/d\mathbf{x}'|_{\mathbf{x}'=0} = 0$. Since the boundary conditions of (10.21) are stipulated at different points, the causality conditions described in Chap. 2 will not be satisfied for this equation, and consequently, these rays will not be described by the diffusive approximation. Generally speaking, the probability density for these rays will be the conditional probability density of the entire aggregate of rays considered in Chap. 7. We note that the conditions for the applicability of the diffusive approximation for the description of amplitudephase fluctuations in the geometrical approximation coincide with the conditions for the applicability of the diffusive approximation for the description of rays in randomly-inhomogeneous media, which were considered in Chap. 7.

11. CONCLUSION

The considered examples thus demonstrate the very wide scope for employing the generalized theory of Brownian motion for highly diverse physical problems. It turns out here frequently that the method under consideration yields a more powerful tool for the solution of a particular problem than other statistical methods (an example is the problem of propagation of light in a medium with random inhomogeneities, where it is difficult to obtain a description of the strong fluctuations of the field by other methods).

Carrying out a formal classification, we can consider by this method nonlinear dynamic systems under the influence of random actions, described by systems of ordinary differential equations, and also problems that reduce to linear partial differential equations, in which the random parameters can enter either in the coefficients of the equations or in the right-hand sides. In all these cases it is possible to obtain a differential equation for the probability distribution, and in some cases also equations in closed form for the mean values, the correlation functions, and higher moments. It is this circumstance which constitutes the advantage of the considered approach, since methods based on the use of perturbation theory usually lead to infinite systems of equations for the moments, and their approximate solutions are frequently valid only under very stringent limitations. One of the advantages of the considered method is also the possibility of simultaneously investigating its applicability limits, and in many cases also the possibility of constructing more accurate approximations.

The developed method can be generalized to include the case when the random actions are not Gaussian but more complicated random processes. To obtain equations in closed form it is necessary in this case that not only the correlation functions but also the cumulant functions of higher order are products of the δ functions (an example of a dynamic system, in which a generalized Poisson process of this type is considered, is contained in ^[94]. Equations for the description of the propagation of light in a medium with δ -correlated non-Gaussian fluctuations of the refractive index have been constructed in ^[80]). In this more general case one obtains, generally speaking, integro-differential equations rather than differential equations for the moments and the distribution functions.

From the physical point of view, the theory of the generalized Brownian motion is suitable for those cases when the considered system has already experienced a sufficient number of "independent" random actions, and we can satisfy ourselves with an average description of its behavior over times longer than the time of action of a "single jolt."

We take the opportunity to express our sincere gratitude to S. M. Rytov and Ya. G. Sinaĭ for reviewing the manuscript and for many valuable remarks, and also to E. A. Novikov, A. M. Obukhov, and A. M. Yaglom for numerous useful discussions.

- ¹⁾We note, however, that the dependence of F_{kl} and A_k on x can be connected also with the use of curvilinear coordinates.
- ²⁾The quantity D is connected with the usual diffusion coefficient K by the relation $KD = (kT)^2$.
- ³⁾Phase space is conserved in the motion of regular systems (the Liouville theorem).
- ⁴⁾We confine ourselves to the simplest case. In the general case the dissipative term takes the form $\lambda_{ik}v_k$.
- ⁵⁾The inclusion of potential mass forces in the hydrodynamic equation does not change the expressions for the total entropy, and it can therefore be assumed that the results of [³⁰] remain in force also in this case. Generally speaking, Eq. (3.22) should be derived on the basis of non-equilibrium kinetic theory. In the case when f(t) describes the influence of small-scale motions on motions of larger scales, Eqs. (3.22) can be used as the basis of the description.
- ⁶⁾We can consider also a more general problem, with allowance for friction; this problem reduces by a standard procedure to Eq. (5.1).
- ⁷⁾We note that it is possible to find in analytic form the probability distribution for quantities averaged over the period of the oscillations (see, e.g., [⁴⁸]).

⁸⁾A more complete investigation of the problem shows that the conditions of parametric excitation of the system are different for different moments. Thus, the excitation conditions for the fourth moments are weaker than for the second moments.

- ⁹⁾We note that Eq. (6.1) is an equation for the characteristics of the equation $dc/dt = \partial c/\partial t + u$ (5, t) $\partial c/\partial r = 0$, which describes the mixing of impurity concentration by a random velocity field.
- ¹⁰)We note in this connection that in the previously cited papers [⁵³⁻⁵⁵] the EFE was used without justification to describe large-angle scattering of light.
- ¹¹⁾Edwards [⁷¹] uses, instead of the characteristic functional, the "probability density of the individual realization of a random velocity field in functional space," which can be regarded as a functional Fourier transformation of the characteristic functional. The equation for this probability density is precisely a generalization of the EFE to the considered case.
- ¹A. Einstein and M. Smoluchowski, transl. in: Brounovskoe dvizhenie (Brownian Motion), ONTI, 1936.
- ² P. Langevin, C.R. Ac. Sci. 146, 530 (1930).
- ³G. E. Uhlenbeck and L. S. Ornstein, Phys. Rev. 36, 823 (1930).
- ⁴ M. C. Wang and G. E. Uhlenbeck, Rev. Mod. Phys. 17, 323 (1945).
- ⁵S. Chandrasekhar, Revs. Mod. Phys. 15, 1 (1943).
- ⁶W. Feller, Introduction to Probability Theory and its Applications, Vols. 1 and 2, Wiley, 1957-1966.
- ⁷M. Loeve, Probability Theory, Van Nostrand, 1955.
- ⁸K. Ito, Theory of Probability, Tokyo, 1953.
- ⁹I. I. Gikhman and A. V. Skorokhod, Vvedenie v teoriyu sluchaĭnykh protsessov (Introduction to the Theory of Random Processes), Nauka, 1965.
- ¹⁰ Yu. V. Prokhorov and Yu. A. Rozanov, Teoriya veroyatnostei (Probability Theory), Nauka, 1965.
- ¹¹J. L. Doob, Stochastic Processes, Wiley, 1953.
- ¹² E. B. Dynkin, Osnovaniya teorii markovskikh protsessov (Fundamentals of the Theory of Markov Processes), Fizmatgiz, 1959.
- ¹³ E. B. Dynkin, Markovskie protsessy (Markov Processes), Fizmatgiz, 1963.
- ¹⁴ K. Ito and H. P. McKean, Diffusion Processes and Their Sample Paths, Interscience, 1964.
- ¹⁵ N. N. Bogolyubov, Izbrannye trudy (Collected Works), Vol. 2, Naukova Dumka, 1970, p. 5.
- ¹⁶ E. A. Novikov, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. **47**, 1919 (1964) [Sov. Phys.-JETP **20**, 1290 (1965)].
- ¹⁷K. Furutsu, J. Res. NBS **D-67**, 303 (1963).
- ¹⁸ M. D. Donsker, in: Matamatika (Mathematics), 11, 128 (1967).
- ¹⁹ R. L. Stratonovich, Izbrannye voprosy teorii fluktuatsii v radiotekhnike (Selected Problems of Fluctuation Theory in Radio Engineering), Sov. Radio, 1961.

510 Sov. Phys.-Usp., Vol. 16, No. 4, January-February 1974

- ²⁰S. M. Rytov, Vvedenie v statisticheskuyu radiofiziku (Introduction to Statistical Radiophysics), Nauka, 1966.
- ²¹ V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskiĭ, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 14, 707 (1971).
- ²² A. M. Yaglom, Matem. sb. 24 (66), 457 (1949).
- ²³ E. Nelson, Dynamical Theories of Brownian Motion, Princeton, Princeton Univ. Press, 1967.
- ²⁴ M. Lax, Rev. Mod. Phys. **32**, 25 (1960).
- ²⁵ M. Lax, Phys. Chem. Sol. 14, 248 (1960).
- ²⁶ M. Lax, Rev. Mod. Phys. 38, 359 (1966).
- ²⁷M. Lax, ibid., p. 541.
- ²⁸G. E. Uhlenbeck, Fundamental Problems of Statistical Mechanics, Lectures delivered 12-18 May, 1968.
- ²⁹ M. L. Levin and S. M. Rytov, Teoriya ravnovesnykh teplovykh fluktuatsiĭ v élektrodinamike (Theory of Equilibrium Thermal Fluctuations in Electrodynamics) Nauka, 1967.
- ³⁰ L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 32, 618 (1957) [Sov. Phys.-JETP 5, 511 (1957)].
- ³¹S. M. Rytov, ibid. 33, 166 (1957) [6, 130 (1958)].
- ³²S. M. Rytov, ibid. 58, 2154 (1970) [31, 1163 (1970)].
- ³³A. M. Obukhov, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 184, 309 (1969) [Sov. Phys.-Dokl. 14, 32 (1969)].
- ³⁴A. M. Obukhov, Fluid Dyn. Trans. 5, 193 (1971).
- ³⁵ A. M. Obukhov, Izv. AN SSSR (Fiz. atmosf. i okeana) 7, 695 (1971).
- ³⁶ F. V. Dolzhanskii, ibid. 8, 661 (1972).
- ³⁷ A. B. Glukhovskii and V. I. Klyatskin, ibid. 9, 675 (1973).
- ³⁸ J. Morton and S. Corrsin, J. Math. Phys. **10**, 361 (1969).
- ³⁹N. N. Moiseev, Asimptoticheskie metody nelineřnoř mekhaniki (Asymptotic Methods of Nonlinear Mechanics), Nauka, 1969.
- ⁴⁰ L. Pontryagin, A. Andronov, and A. Vitt, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 3, 165 (1933).
- ⁴¹A. D. Ventsel' and M. I. Freidlin, Usp. Mat. Nauk 25 (1), 3 (1970).
- ⁴² Yu. E. D'yakov, Radiotekh. i élektron. 5, 863 (1960).
- ⁴³G. F. Carrier, J. Fluid Mech. 44, 2499 (1970).
- ⁴⁴G. Papanicolaou and J. B. Keller, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 21, 287 (1971).
- ⁴⁵ G. Papanicolaou and J. B. Keller, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 24, 473 (1971).
- ⁴⁶G. Papanicolaou, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 21, 13 (1971).
- ⁴⁷ P. L. Sulem and U. Frisch, J. Plasma Phys. 8, 217 (1973).
- ⁴⁸ Yu. A. Mitropol'skii, Metod usredneniya v nelineinoi mekhanike (Averaging Method in Nonlinear Mechanics), Naukova dumka, 1971, p. 317.
- ⁴⁹ V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskiĭ, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 14, 1400 (1971).
- ⁵⁰A. S. Monin and A. M. Yaglom, Statisticheskaya gidromekhanika (Statistical Hydromechanics), Parts 1, 2, Nauka, 1965, 1967.
- ⁵¹G. I. Taylor, Proc. London Math. Soc. 20, 196 (1921).
- ⁵² A. M. Obukhov, in: Atmosfernaya diffuziya i zag ryaznenie vozdukha (Atmospheric Diffusion and Air Pollution), IL, 1962, p. 138.
- ⁵³ L. A. Chernov, Rasprostranenie voln v srede so sluchainymi neodnorodnostyami (Wave Propagation in a Medium with Random Inhomogeneities), AN SSSR, 1958.
- 54 N. G. Denisov, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 1, 34 (1958).
- ⁵⁵ V. M. Komissarov, ibid. 9, 292 (1966).
- ⁵⁶D. B. Keller, in: Gidrodinamicheskaya neustoichivost' (Hydrodynamic Instability) Mir, 1964.
- ⁵⁷ L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Mekhanika sploshnykh

sred, Gostekhizdat, 1953 [Fluid Mechanics, Pergamon, 1958].

- ⁵⁸ L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Élektrodinamika sploshnykh sred, Fizmatgiz, 1959 [Electrodynamics of Continuous Media, Pergamon, 1959].
- ⁵⁹ V. I. Tatarskii, Rasprostranenie voln v turbulentnoi atmosfere (Wave Propagation in the Turbulent Atmosphere), Nauka, 1967.
- ⁶⁰ V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii, Teoriya veroyatn. i ee prim. 14, 357 (1969).
- ⁶¹V. I. Tatarskii, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 14, 960 (1971).
- ⁶² M. Bixon and R. Zwanzig, Phys. Rev. 187, 267 (1969).
- 63 F. L. Hinton, Phys. Fluids 13, 857 (1970).
- ⁶⁴ R. F. Fox and G. E. Uhlenbeck, ibid., p. 1893.
- 65 R. F. Fox and G. F. Uhlenbeck, ibid., p. 2881.
- ⁶⁶G. E. Kelly and M. B. Lewis, ibid. 14, 1925 (1971).
- ⁶⁷V. I. Klyatskin, Izv. AN SSSR (Fizika atmos. i okeana) 7, 486 (1971).
- ⁶⁸ L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Statisticheskaya fizika, Nauka, 1964 [Statistical Physics, Pergamon, 1971].
- ⁶⁹ A. B. Glukhovskiĭ, Izv. AN SSSR (Fiz. atmos. i okeana) 7, 1039 (1971).
- ⁷⁰ E. Hopf, J. Rat. Mech. Analys., 1, 87 (1952).
- ⁷¹S. F. Edwards, J. Fluids Mech. 18, 239 (1964).
- ⁷² V. I. Klyatskin, Izv. AN SSSR (Mekh. zhidk. i gaza), No. 4, 120 (1971).
- ⁷³ M. E. Gracheva and A. S. Gurvich, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 8, 717 (1965).
- ⁷⁴ A. S. Gurvich, M. A. Kallistratova, and N. S. Time, ibid. 11, 1360 (1968).
- ⁷⁵ M. E. Gracheva, A. S. Gurvich, and M. A.
- Kallistratova, ibid. 13, 56 (1970).
- ⁷⁶ M. I. Mordukhovich, ibid. p. 275.
- ⁷⁷ Yu. N. Barabanenkov, Yu. A. Kravtsov, S. M. Rytov, and V. I. Tatarskii, Usp. Fiz. Nauk **102**, 3 (1970) [Sov. Phys.-Uspekhi **13**, 551 (1971)].
- ⁷⁸ V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 15, 1433 (1972).
- ⁷⁹ V. I. Tatarskii, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. **56**, 2106 (1969) [Sov. Phys.-JETP **29**, 1133 (1969)].
- ⁸⁰V. I. Klyatskin, ibid. 57, 952 (1969) [30, 520 (1970)].
- ⁸¹ L. A. Chernov, Akust. zh. 15, 594 (1969) [Sov. Phys. Acoust. 15, 511 (1970)].
- ⁸² L. S. Dolin, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 11, 840 (1968).
- ⁸³ V. I. Shishov, ibid. p. 866.
- ⁸⁴ M. Beran, J. Opt. Soc. Am. 60, 518 (1970).
- ⁸⁵ V. I. Klyatskin, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 13, 1069 (1970).
- ⁸⁶ M. A. Kallistratova and V. V. Pokasov, ibid. 14, 1200 (1971).
- ⁸⁷A. V. Artem'ev and A. S. Gurvich, ibid. p. 734.
- ⁸⁸I. M. Dagkesmanskaya and V. I. Shishov, ibid. p. 734.
- ⁸⁹ E. S. Fradkin, Tr. FIAN **29**, 7 (1965).
- ⁹⁰ E. S. Fradkin, Acta Phys. 19, 175 (1965).
- ⁹¹ E. S. Fradkin, Nucl. Phys. 76, 588 (1966).
- ⁹² V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 58, 624 (1970) [Sov. Phys.-JETP 31, 335 (1970)].
- ⁹³ V. U. Zavorotnyi and V. I. Klyatskin, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 15, 897 (1972).
- ⁹⁴ V. I. Klyatskin and V. I. Tatarskii, Teor. Mat. Fiz. 17 (1973).
- ⁹⁵ K. A. Valiev and E. N. Ivanov, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 109, 31 (1973) [Sov. Phys.-Uspekhi 16, 1 (1973)].
- ⁹⁶ N. V. Zubareva, Izv. vuzov (Radiofizika) 16, 310 (1973).

Translated by J. G. Adashko